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Dear Shareholders,

Under the 14th Five-Year Plan of the PRC, significant effort
was put into transforming and improving traditional industries,
optimizing industrial layouts and structural adjustments, increasing
supply of quality products from light and textile industry,
accelerating the transformation and improvement process of
companies in key industries like chemical and papermaking and
refining the green manufacturing system. In 2023, facing complex
and changing international landscape and global economic
slowdown, China’s economy achieved sustained growth despite
the various headwinds. According to the data from the National
Bureau of Statistics of China, China’s gross domestic product
(GDP) grew by 5.2% year-on-year to RMB126 trillion in 2023,
reaching a new level exceeding RMB121 trillion in 2022, with top
growth rate among major economies in the world.

During the reporting period, the production volume of paper
and paperboard amounted to 144.055 million tonnes, representing
a year-on-year increase of 6.6%. In 2023, under the continuously
improving industry situation, the Group strengthened its corporate
core, insisted on technological innovation as the lifeline of
corporate survival and development, and achieved growth in
both revenue and net profit. In 2023, revenue amounted to
approximately RMB237.37 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 9.0%; net profit amounted to approximately
RMB53.683 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 1.3%.

Continuous technological innovation is the key to
development. The Group has always prioritized technological
innovation while improving its R&D and core technological
capabilities. Currently, the Group owns 97 inventions, utility
models and design patents. Sichuan Huanlong Technology Fabric
Co., Ltd* (TJIIRER M4 E R A7) and Shanghai Jinxiong
Paper Making Net Carpet Co., Ltd.* (L /8 & BEKBHER LA A),
both subsidiaries of the Group, are recognized as national High
and New Tech Enterprise. Sichuan Huanlong Technology Fabric
Co., Ltd. was recognized as a Sichuan Specialized and New
Enterprise, Sichuan Service-oriented Manufacturing Enterprise
and Sichuan Green Factory and awarded the “Contribution
Award for Product Development” by China National Textile and
Apparel Council. Shanghai Jinxiong Paper Making Net Carpet
Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of the Company and a sci-tech SME, was
recognized as a Shanghai Specialized and New Enterprise and
awarded the “Top 100 Shanghai Hi-tech Achievement Transfer
Project Award”. The Group insists on actively exploring the road
of green development. The Group completed the carbon footprint
evaluation of papermaking felts and obtained carbon footprint
certification during the reporting period, and was recognized
as one of the “Top 10 Green and Low-Carbon Transformation
Enterprise of Chengdu” and a National “Green Factory”.

*  for identification purposes only
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CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT
ERE®E

The Group’s self-developed Paper Machine Efficiency
Operation System (EMREBL X EZELRBEBEFTFERR)
visualized its technical achievements and service value, providing
the Group with competitive edges and added value to products,
while also enhancing customers’ loyalty. The system provides
data support for the product design and optimization solutions for
papermaking felts, achieving continuous improvement for product
guality and providing strong foundation for the sustained growth of
the Group and stable customer sources.

In 2023, the Group invested in the PM3 digital and intelligent
production line in Shanghai Jinxiong production site. All equipment
was in place and certain of which has been installed during
the reporting period. The production line will be completed and
commence production by 2024. The project will transform the
traditional manufacturing industry into intelligent, clean and
green manufacturing by applying advanced technology and the
Company's years of expertise. The Group is the first enterprise
in the PRC which owns an advanced production line for the
widest papermaking felt around the world. The Company has
simultaneously launched a production digitization project based
on the Company's self-developed Paper Machine Efficiency
Operation System, integrating the Company's many years
of research and development results and experience, and
undertaking the major mission of revolutionizing the papermaking
felt industry of the PRC, which will significantly enhance the level
of craftsmanship and technology of the paper industry of the
PRC and lead the future development of China's papermaking felt
industry.

The development of the Group would not be possible
without the support of the public. In the course of the Group's
development, the Group is thankful for the trust and support of its
stakeholders. In 2023, the Group further explored and improved
its ESG management to facilitate sustainable development,
optimize its ESG and internal control system, enrich its talent
management system and increase its investment in charity. To
repay the shareholders of the Company, dividends of RMB19.338
million was distributed during the year. In order to bring further
returns to the shareholders of the Company, the Group plans to
distribute additional dividends in 2024.

6 VANOV HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED BEEZERERARE

AEBEETHENERBRELRZTBERBTH
FFEES  BRTERMAROAR(CHMRS EED
B GAKESRTHFNELNERMME
ARERESTEFONME BASEERERNE
MR BENTEREBEXE ERERLED
FERMT REEREER RBRENTEFPERREH
TRABENHRE -

2023F  AEBBEENR LB REEEMAHPMI
HF SRRANEFER  MEXED2BENMT -
BOBREREPRNCLTRTENX - £E KB R20245F
BERTERE ZBEEERALTERNFR #4627
MRBREZFHEERN BEREREEXRTHEE
mBREE  HefEER  RALEDIEEZEE
AMEANERKEREERENERETRCELER -
ARRSEERBTEERT(LER ERQARIEE
AEMEAKEEZAEEBLLREBETTIaES @ 8t
ARBIZFMBERRERER  AHTHHEATH
TEEAEHED BARREARRERITELS
BWGKE  S|BREERERTERRER -

EENEREETHSRALINXRIIE &
ErEEERABERFISENEHASENEERLS
Ff 0 20235 - AEETEHRRMELESGEEIE -
NI HBREREZREK  TERE HIRER
MATER  BEASEEES  MARZBANE
F o BEFARRE  AFEETEKIESL1933.88 5
T ABERRARKRE - AL E£2024F 15 4
BRAREDIKRE -



BUSINESS PROSPECTS

The paper industry uses plant fibers from wood and native
plants like bamboo and recycled fibers like waste paper as raw
materials, which can partially replace non-renewable resources,
such as plastics and non-ferrous metals. It is an important
industry in China's national economy with the characteristics of
green and sustainable development.

According to the 9th Five-Year Plan of the PRC paper industry
and the policy direction of the 14th Five-Year Plan, policy support
for the paper industry has changed from structural adjustment to
sustainable development and then to green manufacturing. The
Outline of the 14th Five-Year Plan and the Long-Range Objectives
Through 2035 proposes plans for transforming and improving
traditional industries, optimizing industrial layouts and structural
adjustments, increasing supply of quality products from light and
textile industry, accelerating the transformation and improvement
process of companies in key industries like chemical and
papermaking and refining the green manufacturing system

Paperboard is widely used in the packaging and transport
industry. With the rapid development of e-commerce, the increase
in demand for packaging will continue to promote the growth of
paper board production. Meanwhile, as the consumer demand for
sustainable development and environmental protection increases,
the trend of replacing other materials with paper board will grow
even stronger, providing wider development room for paper board
manufacturing.

Pursuant to the 14th Five-Year Plan Medium and Long-term
High Quality Development Outline for the Paper Industry, in
2025, the total production volume of paper and paper board shall
reach 140 million tonnes. With the recovery of global economic
activities, the market demand for paper and paper board is also
increasing, leading to favorable market sentiment and industry
development prospects.
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CHAIRPERSON'S STATEMENT
ERE®E

According to the latest research report prepared by
QYResearch, the global scale of the paper and paper board
packaging market is expected to reach US$193.801 billion by
2029, representing a CAGR of 3.75% over the next few years.
At present, main global paper and paper board packaging
manufacturers are mainly located in the United States, Europe
and China; while new production capacity in Southeast Asia is
growing rapidly, it is still below the world’s average and far behind
that of Europe, the United States and other developed regions,
with huge room for development. Production lines in Europe and
the United States are undergoing upgrades and renovations,
increasing demands from existing markets. Paper and packaging
industry was in product structure adjustment stage from 2010 to
2020, leading to a significant increase in demand for virgin pulp
and a corresponding increase in production capacity. The industry
enters the phase of sustainability and digitalization from 2020
to 2030, with digital transformation showing huge development
potential.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Looking forward, the Company remains optimistic about the
paper industry and the papermaking felts subsector. The Group
will adhere to the strategy of “internationalization”, “refinement”
and “digitalization and systematization”, striving to become
the world's leading supplier of papermaking felts that utilizes
technology and technological innovations as its core drive to

implement the rapid development plan of the Group.

The Group will further improve the Paper Machine Efficiency
Operation System, empowering its green development effort
with digitization and smart technology and further implement
the 14th Five-Year Plan Industrial Green Development Plan
and the Implementation Plan for Carbon Emission Peak in
the Industrial Sector. We will further strengthen our ESG
management to achieve corporate development, fulfill our
corporate responsibilities, aggressively promote corporate green
manufacturing and expedite technology and product upgrade. We
will expand our market with quality, improve value-added product
services with digitalization and establish standardized system
with internationalization, in order to create brand value, promote
the sustainable and high-quality development of the Group and
facilitate the process towards green sustainable development of
the industry.

8 VANOV HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED BEEZERERARE
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In 2024, the Group will complete a digital and smart
production line in Shanghai that is among the best within the
global papermaking felt industry. This production line will be
mainly producing papermaking felts for high-speed papermaking
felts, and will form synergies with the Paper Machine Efficiency
Operation System of the Group to greatly improve product quality
and services of the Group and contribute to the efforts on energy
saving, emission reduction, quality and efficiency enhancement,
digital transformation and smart manufacturing within the paper
industry. The Group is committed to develop the production line
into a leading production base for papermaking mesh with world
class technology.

To achieve internationalization, sustainable rapid growth,
expansion into global market, promote the internationalization
of the Vanov brand and enhance its influence, the Group will
selectively seek strategic acquisitions to supplement its business
capabilities and strategic focuses.

APPRECIATION

The Group would like to express its sincere gratitude to all
staff, investors, customers, suppliers, government at all levels,
banks, business partners and other stakeholders for their trust and
support towards Vanov Holdings. In the future, it is believed the
Group will live up to the trust of the community and continuously
improve the Group’s operating results, explore the road towards
green industrial development in the papermaking felt industry,
guide the development of papermaking felt industry through
technological innovation and shoulder social responsibilities,
in order to create value for shareholders of the Company and
stakeholders and achieve sustainable corporate development.

Shen Genlian
Chairperson
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBNWRIN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group has always seen technological innovation as
the lifeline of corporate survival and development. The Group
currently has two production sites, namely Chengdu Wenjiang
and Shanghai Jinxiong, as well as two renowned papermaking
felt brands of MAINQCWV and @(Zear. Technology innovation

has always been the core motivation gﬁ?e Group’s sustainability.
The subsidiaries of the Group are recognized as national High and
New Tech Enterprise, provincial corporate technical center and
provincial “specialized and new” enterprise. As of today, the Group

owns 97 invention, utility model and design patents.

During the reporting period, utilizing the Group’s
self-developed Paper Machine Efficiency Operation System, the
Group could provide comprehensive papermaking felt pre-sales,
sales and after-sales services. The Group promptly reacts to
customers’ need and provides them with solutions based on
professional technological and digital services. The system not
only optimizes the tracking of paper machine efficiency and
provision of resolutions, it also provides the best operating
condition of the machines and parameter suggestions to
customers. The system provides overall efficiency enhancement
and training sessions for customers while provides supporting
data for the Group’s product design and solution enhancement
in order to achieve continuous improvement on product quality,
which firmly ensures the sustained growth of the Group and stable
customer resources.

In 2023, Sichuan Huanlong Technology Fabric Co., Ltd.* (ZT)I|
IRBEF T 4 ¥ B IR A 7)) and Shanghai Jinxiong Paper Making Net
Carpet Co., Ltd.* (£ /8 & RRE A M A R A 7)), both subsidiaries
of the Group, began the evaluation of carbon footprint. This
project serves the Group’s goal of green manufacturing and lays
the foundation for green and sustainable development of the
Group. The Group completed the carbon footprint evaluation for
papermaking felts and obtained carbon footprint certification.
The Group was recognized as one of the “Top 10 Green and
Low-Carbon Transformation Enterprise of Chengdu” and a
National “Green Factory”.

* for identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the reporting period, the PM3 production line project of
the Shanghai Jinxiong production site of the Group is progressing
as scheduled. The project plans to establish a PRC production
site which possesses the most advanced papermaking net
carpet technology in the world. As of today, the Group is the first
enterprise in the PRC which owns an advanced production line
for the widest papermaking felt around the world. The launch
of the PM3 project not only bridges the gap in the PRC market,
it also highly boosts the quality and stability of the products
through its advanced production craftsmanship, technologies and
reliable equipment. The Group contributes significant value to the
papermaking industry by ways of craftsmanship enhancement,
technology innovation and product upgrade.

FUTURE PLANS

The struggle does not end here. Historical performance
guides our future path.

In order to boost the business development of the Group
and facilitate the international development plan of Vanov, the
Group will continue to implement the measures as set out in the
Prospectus (as defined below) to develop the Company. The
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) intend to implement
the following measures funded by the Group’s internal resources:

() the Group has executed the production capacity expansion
plan in three phases from 2021 to 2024 in order to satisfy the
expected increasing demand in its high-speed papermaking
felts. Such additional production capacity is mainly intended
for manufacturing the papermaking felts used for paper
machines of higher speed; the PM3 production line in
Shanghai Jinxiong production site is expected to launch in the
first half of 2024, which will further expand our capacity.

(I) the Group will continue to upgrade the Paper Machine
Efficiency Operation System to facilitate the collection of
information from customers’ papermaking machines and
production machinery and equipment, support the analysis
of the data collected from the machines, build database
and promote customized product services based on its
analysis of the data. In 2024, the Group will continue to
develop its production machinery and equipment based
on the information collected using the online platform and
allocate more resources to strengthen the Group’s information
technology facilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBNWRIN

(Il) to achieve future growth of the Group, the Group may
selectively pursue strategic acquisitions that complement its
business and strategic priorities, such as for expanding the
business horizontally in the industry chain and supply chain.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group principally engages in the design, manufacture
and sales of papermaking felts under the brands of VAINQCV
and /éSggi;. The revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023
was approximately RMB237.4 million, representing an increase of
9.0% as compared to approximately RMB217.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly attributable to the

increase in product sales and unit sales price.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 December
2023 was approximately RMB126.5 million, representing an
increase of approximately RMB9.7 million from approximately
RMB116.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. Its gross
profit margin decreased from approximately 53.6% for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 53.3% for the year
ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly attributable to the
increase in cost of raw material.

Other Income

Other income for the Group decreased by approximately
RMB6.6 million from approximately RMB20.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB13.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly attributable
to the decrease in exchange gain.

Selling and Distribution Expense

For the year ended 31 December 2023, selling and
distribution expenses of the Group was approximately RMB22.4
million, as compared to approximately RMB21.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022. Selling and distribution
expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023 accounted for
approximately 9.4% of its revenue, representing an increase of
approximately RMBO0.8 million from the year ended 31 December
2022, which was mainly attributable to the increase in travel and
entertainment fees in connection with sales.

12 VANOV HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED MBiEiERERA

() RERAKEERKSRERAE AEEFEE
M S REMIENE UBZTEEBRRRKE
BHopmEERBERHRERTMAAARER -

Bt %5 ] 8

iy =

wum: = VANQV 1 (P08 o i =
EHERMOR  HERHEE  c AEEH E2023F
RANALFEMNRZOABARE2374EE T &
HE2022F12A31H L FEMNH AR 217865 & T
EMo.0%  FEREAEMBEERHEEEE LR
FTER -

ERNRENE

HE2023F12A31HILFE - AEBTFOAEA
R#126.58 &0 ®E £2022F12A318 L FEH
HMARK168EETEMOAREITEE T - X
Z AR E £2022912 A31H I F ¥ #953.6% 8 2 = &
£2023F12A31A I FE453.3% ' EEZREAAEREM
BEBK A G N AT 3K -

Hb W A

NEEH E2023F12 A31H IEFEHE MU AL
BARBIBSHEET B#HE2022F12A310 1L FE
PWARB201BELRINARB66EETL  TE2R
A& 5 W2 m A AT B »

AEBEFHZE2023F12A318 L FENHEE R D H
AN ABARKE2245E T - MEE2022%12A31H
IFFAHAARKE21.6EE T - #22023F12731
HEFEMHEERDHAIERZEL.4%  REE
2022F12A3IREFEREMHARK0SE ST ° £
ZREAADAHEEEENZIR R BEBIBMATE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2023, administrative
and other operating expenses of the Group was approximately
RMB42.3 million, as compared to approximately RMB40.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022. Such increase was mainly
due to the increase in depreciation and staff cost.

Finance Cost

For the year ended 31 December 2023, total finance cost of
the Group reached approximately RMB11.7 million, representing
an increase of approximately RMB1.2 million as compared to
approximately RMB10.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. The main reason for such increase was the increase in loan
interest derived from bank borrowings.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 reached approximately RMB9.7 million,
representing a decrease of approximately RMB1.7 million from
approximately RMB11.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in the
amount of PRC dividend withholding tax.

Effective tax rate (income tax expense divided by profit before
income tax for the current year) for the year ended 31 December
2023 was approximately 15.3%, as compared to 17.8% for the year
ended 31 December 2022. Such decrease was mainly attributable
to the increase in research and development expense and
decrease in PRC dividend withholding tax.

Turnover Days of Inventories and Trade Payables

Turnover days of inventories of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 were 60.0 days, as compared to 52.9 days for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Turnover days for trade payables of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were 77.0 days, as compared to 82.8
days for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBNWRIN

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2023, net assets of the Group
reached approximately RMB409.0 million (31 December
2022: approximately RMB373.4 million). As at 31 December
2023, current assets and current liabilities of the Group
reached approximately RMB308.5 million (31 December 2022:
approximately RMB285.5 million) and approximately RMB191.3
million (31 December 2022: approximately RMB148.9 million). As
at 31 December 2023, the current ratio of the Group was 161.3%,
as compared to 191.7% as at 31 December 2022.

The Group normally finances its operations from cash
generated from its operating activities and bank borrowings. As
at 31 December 2023, outstanding bank borrowings and other
borrowings of the Group was approximately RMB326.7 million
(31 December 2022: approximately RMB215.5 million). These
bank borrowings and other borrowings were generally secured
by its property, plant and equipment and land lease prepayment.
As at 31 December 2023, bank balances and cash of the
Group reached approximately RMB78.6 million (31 December
2022: approximately RMB85.6 million). Net gearing ratio (total
borrowings minus cash and cash equivalents and divided by
shareholders’ equity) of the Group as of 31 December 2023 was
61.6% (31 December 2022: 35.1%).

The Group has sufficient cash and available bank credit to
meet the commitment and its operating cash requirement.

The Group’s trading and monetary assets are denominated in
RMB. The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in
its investment activities. The financial risks include market risks
(including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and other price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall financial risk
management policies focuses on the unpredictability and volatility
at financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the financial position, financial performance and cash
flows of the Group. No derivative financial instruments are used to
hedge any risk exposures.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total borrowings by total
equity at the period-end date and expressed as a percentage.
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately 82.6% as compared to approximately 60.4% as at
31 December 2022. The increase in gearing ratio was mainly due
to the increase in project loans in 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s assets were
pledged to secure bank and other borrowings of the Group. The
aggregate carrying amount of the assets of the Group pledged at
31 December 2023 was approximately RMB150.3 million.

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policy and thus maintained a
healthy financial position throughout the period. The Board closely
monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments
can meet its funding requirements at all times.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC. Most of the operating
transactions and revenue were settled in RMB and the Group’s
assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in RMB. However,
the Group has certain bank balances and trade receivables
denominated in US dollars and Hong Kong dollars amounting to
approximately RMB58.4 million and RMB1.8 million, respectively,
as at 31 December 2023 which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The Group does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the Group manages the risk by closely
monitoring the movements of the foreign currency rate and would
consider hedging against significant foreign currency exposure
should it be necessary.

Trade and Other Receivable

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the trade and other
receivable of the Group were approximately RMB209.9 million.

As at 31 December 2023, the net trade receivables of the
Group amounted to approximately RMB173,791,000, among
which approximately RMB5,202,000 has been net off with lifetime
expected credit lossess (“ECL").
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

The Group's ECL allowance has been taken into consideration
the historical credit loss experience of the customers over the
years, therefore the ECL allowance was sufficient to cover the
expected credit loss of trade receivable for the year ended 31
December 2023. The ECL rate as disclosed in Note 36.5 to the
consolidated financial statements has been adjusted based on
(i) the average historical credit loss experience of the customers;
(ii) the forward-looking factors specific to the customers; and
(iii) the economic environment for the year ended 31 December
2023. To the best knowledge and information of the Directors, as
at 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report,
the Company was not aware that those customers have any
financial difficulties in repaying the relevant trade receivables
as these customers are either listed companies or top players in
the papermaking industries or customers which have/will have
ongoing and/or potential future business relationships with the
Group.

The Group has implemented various measures to follow
up on the trade receivable balances, including introducing
incentive measures for sales personnel to increase their effort
and motivation in collecting trade receivables and has been
continuously monitoring the payments from those customers and
contacting them to follow up on the status of their payments. The
Directors believed that the trade receivables as at 31 December
2023 would be fully recovered progressively and no further
impairment loss was recognised thereby.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other
significant investments held, no material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, nor was there any
plan authorized by the Board for other material investments or
additions of capital assets as at 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 357 employees (as
at 31 December 2022: 327 employees). As at 31 December 2023,
the total staff cost, including salaries, wages and other benefits,
and contributions to defined contribution plans, amounted to
approximately RMB41.2 million.

The remuneration package offered by the Group to its
employees generally includes salary, allowances and payment
for welfare contributions, including social insurance contributions
and housing provident fund contributions. The Group determines
its employees’ remunerations based on each employee’s
gualification, relevant experience, position and seniority. The
Group conducts annual review on salary increments, bonuses
and promotions based on the performance of each employee. The
Group provides regular on-the-job training to the employees and
conducts yearly reviews of their performance. The Group believes
that these initiatives have contributed to stronger work incentive
among its employees.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE
OFFER

On 29 December 2021, the Company offered 114,200,000
ordinary shares at the range of HK$1.22 per share to HK$1.44
per share for subscription. The offer price was determined at
HK$1.22 and the shares of the Company were successfully listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 11 January 2022.
Net proceeds from the Listing (after deduction of underwriting fees
and commissions and other listing expense) were approximately
HK$92.8 million. In addition, the Over-allotment Option (as defined
in the prospectus of the Company dated 29 December 2021 (the
“Prospectus”)) was partially exercised and the Company further
issued 3,442,000 shares, representing approximately 3.0% of the
number of shares of the Company initially offered at HK$1.22.
The additional net proceeds from the partial exercise of the Over-
allotment Option were approximately HK$4.2 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the date
of the Listing up to 31 December 2023 is set out below:

B ETMHE#®EZ2023F12HA318 © FTEHIEF
BB ABRAINEHINGT :

Proposed timetable

Unused balance for the use of
Allocated use of Used as of 31 as of 31 unutilised net
Percentage proceeds December 2023 December 2023 proceeds
BE2023%F BZ2023F BAMKREA
RERENS 123318 12A31H8 RERERE
BOl AR 28R i K B 4 8 MEBERER
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(AEER) (AEER) (AEER)
Purchase machinery to BERBIAR 40% 38.8 38.8 —
upgrade production sites EEEHM
Strengthen research and ISR % g 20% 19.4 12.7 6.7 On or before 31
development capabilities December 2024
2024512 A
31A 2 i
Pursue strategic acquisitions 2 s 5 B¢ {4 Ut BB 10% 9.7 — 9.7 On or before 31
December 2024
2024127
3LH Z Al
Reduce indebtedness > ES 20% 19.4 19.4 —
Working capital and other ~ {E2EE &K 10% 9.7 9.7 —
general corporate EHt—REERAR
purpose
100% 97.0 80.6 16.4

As at 31 December 2023, the amount of unutilised net
proceeds amounted to approximately HK$16.4 million. The
unutilised net proceeds were placed in interest-bearing deposits
with authorised financial institutions or licensed banks in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

As of 31 December 2023, the utilised net proceeds were
applied in accordance with the planned use as previously
disclosed in the Prospectus and the remaining net proceeds are
expected to be used as planned. The remaining unutilised net
proceeds are expected to be utilised on or before 31 December
2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company is committed to maintain high standards of
corporate governance to protect the interests of its shareholders
and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company
has adopted all the code provisions in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules as
its own code on corporate governance practices. The Board
has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices
and is satisfied that the Company has complied with all code
provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31 December
2023. The Company will continue to enhance its corporate
governance practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of
its business and to review such practices from time to time to
ensure that it complies with the CG Code and align with the latest
developments.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made
specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of the Directors has
confirmed that he/she has complied with the Model Code for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board (including all independent non-executive Directors)
is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company, and
setting up the overall strategy as well as reviewing the operation
and financial performance of the Group. The Board reserved for
its decision or consideration matters covering overall strategy,
major acquisitions and disposals, annual budgets, annual and
interim results, recommendations on Directors’ appointment or
re-appointment, approval of major capital transactions and other
significant operational and financial matters. The management
was delegated the authority and responsibility by the Board for
the daily management of the Group. In addition, the Board has
also delegated various responsibilities to the Board committees.
Further details of these committees are set out in this corporate
governance report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
seven Directors and their respective roles are as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. Shen Genlian (Chairperson)

Mr. Zhou Jun (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Xie Zongguo

Ms. Yuan Aomei

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ip Wang Hoi
Mr. Zhang Shenjin
Mr. Wang Yunchen

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. Save for Mr. Zhou Jun, being
the spouse of Ms. Shen Genlian, the Chairperson of the Board
(the “Chairperson”), the Board members have no relationship
(whether financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships) amongst members of the Board.

Board meetings and general meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as
well as the operation and financial performance of the Group, in
addition to the meetings for reviewing and approving the Group’s
annual and interim results. The Directors had participated in the
Board meetings as indicated below. For those Directors who could
not attend these meetings in person, they participated through
electronic media.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairperson to prepare the agenda of the
meetings and each Director may request to include any relevant
matters on the agenda. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice is given
for the regular meetings by the Company. All substantive agenda
items have comprehensive briefing papers, which are, in general,
circulated three days before convening each Board meeting.

Between scheduled meetings, senior management of the
Group provides to the Directors, on a regular basis, monthly
updates and other information with respect to the performance
and business activities of the Group. It enables the Board to make
informed assessment of financial and other decisions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

All the Directors are able to seek advice and services
from the Company Secretary on the Board procedures and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations, and corporate governance
matters. Draft minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board
committees are circulated to all Directors for comment and
approval as soon as practicable after the meetings. Minutes of
Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are kept
by the Company Secretary and all Board members are given
a copy of the minutes for their record. Should a matter being
considered involve a potential conflict of interest of a Director, the
Director involved in the transaction would be requested to leave
the boardroom and abstain from voting. The matter would be
discussed and resolved by other Directors in a form of physical
meeting. Policy is in place that the Directors, upon reasonable
request, may seek independent professional advice on issues
related to the Group’s business at the Company’s expenses. The
attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and general
meeting during the year is set out below:

B-BEEENEEELEY
ERERHZ2BEZEHNUAREERNER EF
SLEFEZEENEALBHARNERT A2
BEFENEANESERCHRZBIANAFRLE -
WAAEEEESREEFZBENREHR
BRXGcEERABEARERR - BAFEMKIU
ERERVABRERESTIRIRE - AAFEKE
REEENAEERAAKEXBEBREES KB
VYEXER BREMARRAE SREERFAML

P TN
TERERBRE

PREFAUNEFERFAMEERER - RA
ERUARGCEERFEMARWES RE R LR
VERABRERASE

A7 K 7%

Number of
Board
meetings
attended/
convened
EHEBET
2EEYg
BREXE
Executive Directors BITES

Ms. Shen Genlian AR E 2 4/4
Mr. Zhou Jun JE B 4 4 4/4
Mr. Xie Zongguo #HRE kA& 4/4
Ms. Yuan Aomei =gzt 4/4

Independent non-executive BMYEHITES

Directors

Mr. Ip Wang Hoi = SN e 4/4
Mr. Zhang Shenjin wIESLE 4/4
Mr. Wang Yunchen FEREE 4/4

FEEEERRRERENHBERNOT :
Number of
general
meetings
Attendance attended/ Attendance
rate convened rate
BHE
BEETZ
HEX BRREAERH B =%
100% 1/1 100%
100% 1/1 100%
100% 1/1 100%
100% 1/1 100%
100% 1/1 100%
100% 1/1 100%
100% 1/1 100%
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Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

Each of the executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a specific term. The Directors have been
appointed for a term of three years commencing from 22 June
2022, unless and until it is terminated by either the Company
or such Director. The term of appointment of each Director is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) in accordance
with its articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”) and the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Articles of Associations, one-third of all
Directors (whether executive or non-executive) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at each AGM at least once
every three years.

The Articles of Association provide that any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
first AGM of the Company. Any Director so appointed after his/her
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

The Company may, in accordance with the Articles of
Association, by ordinary resolution remove any Director before
the expiration of his/her term of office notwithstanding anything
to the contrary in the Articles of Association or in any agreement
between the Company and such Director.
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TEERRE
Directors’ training =
Code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code provides that directors TEEATATAEXCLANBRE EEES
should participate in continuous professional development to MIBEEXERE BRI E NG XERE R
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure REEBBTEFELIHEMRIEMENERATHE
that their contribution to the Board remain informed and relevant. FEELER  2RESFEEARDLREHFIR HH
All the Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous BHEARNTDEBREZTBELBERBOHXHE - 2
professional development activities by ways of attending training HBEEEERTEY REEFRHEMNCE  HE
and/or reading materials relevant to the Company’s business 2023F12AB1IAILFE  EFEXNEXEIIMEN
or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities. A summary of T

professional training received by the Directors for the year ended
31 December 2023 according to the records provided by the
Directors is as follows:

Attending seminar(s)/
programme(s)/
conference(s) and/or
reading materials relevant
to the business or
directors’ duties

HEEHEEEHWHE
R/ SHEREEREEH
EHEB XS
Ms. Shen Genlian AR 2+ v
Mr. Zhou Jun JB Bk e v
Mr. Xie Zongguo HRE LA v
Ms. Yuan Aomei =+ v
Mr. Ip Wang Hoi L N e 4
Mr. Zhang Shenijin RESEE 4
Mr. Wang Yunchen TEREE 4
Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance EERERBECEERR
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover ARREREZRSLBEEEABE ZRE - 5t
for the Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal RRREE  BABE RS RETERERR B EBE
actions against Directors, officers and senior management of the EREEETRHERE -

Company arising out of corporate activities.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

In accordance with the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code,
the roles of the chairman and the chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
Currently, Ms. Shen Genlian, the Chairperson, is responsible
for the for strategic development and providing advice on the
operation and management of the Group. Mr. Zhou Jun, the chief
executive officer of the Company, is responsible for the overall
management, strategic and major decisions on the development
and planning and operation of the Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the requirement of Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors, one of whom has appropriate
professional qualification in accounting and financial management
expertise. All independent non-executive Directors have
confirmed their independence, as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, to the Company and the Board considers that
all independent non-executive Directors have satisfied their
independence of the Group.

All independent non-executive Directors have offered
sufficient time and efforts to serve the business affairs of
the Company. They also possess appropriate academic and
professional qualifications and related management experience
and have contributed to the Board with their professional
opinion. The Board believes that the participation of independent
non-executive Directors shall offer their independent judgment on
issues relating to strategy, performance, conflict of interest and
management process such that the interests of all shareholders
and the Group are considered and safeguarded.

To ensure that independent views and input are available to
the Board, the Company has established mechanisms including
(i) strengthening the independent non-executive Directors’
recruitment process to include criteria such as each candidates’
available time commitments and qualification; (ii) reviewing the
number of independent non-executive Directors on an annual
basis; (iii) performing additional assessment or evaluation of
independent non-executive Directors’ contribution; and (iv) engage
external independent professional advisors to assist performance
of the Directors’ duties. The Board will review the implementation
and effectiveness of the above mechanisms on an annual basis.

During the year under review, the Chairperson had held a
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of the other executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Implementation and execution of the policies and strategies
formulated by the Board and the daily operations are delegated
from the Board to the management of the Company and the
Board reviewed the written delegation arrangements regularly,
so that the Board is able to make informed decisions. In addition,
an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), a remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and a nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) have been set
up to assist the Board in fulfilling certain responsibilities. All
committees have been established with defined written terms
of reference, which were posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk) and the Company (www.vanov.cn).
All committees shall report to the Board on their decisions
or recommendations made. All committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are,
among other things, to review and supervise the Group's financial
reporting process and internal control and risk management
system, nominate and monitor external auditors, provide advice
and comments to the Board on matters related to corporate
governance and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ip Wang Hoi, Mr. Zhang
Shenjin and Mr. Wang Yunchen. Mr. Wang Yunchen currently
serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year:

¢« reviewed annual results of 2022 and annual report of
2022, interim results of 2023 and interim report of 2023;

¢ discussed with the management and the external auditor
the accounting policies and practices which may affect
the Group;

¢ reviewed the report prepared by the external auditor
covering major findings in the course of the audit and the
accounting and financial reporting matters;
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+ reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and s BRANAEEEAREERABEZTRGNE K
internal control systems of the Group; and % R
« considered the re-appointment of external auditor of the s EBEEMZEADBMINEZ KA o
Company.
The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year BEZEZEBCREE2023F12A31MH L FEE R17
ended 31 December 2023. Individual attendance of each MREZE - FEZBEGNERE E£2023F12H318 1k
committee member at the meeting during the year ended 31 FEMNGZLEBERABAOT

December 2023 is as follows:

Attendance/

Number of meetings

Name of Committee Member ZEEREMRS HERE EBRE
Mr. Ip Wang Hoi L N 2/2
Mr. Zhang Shenjin RIE® A 2/2
Mr. Wang Yunchen FERTE 2/2

The annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 REBMEZ2023F12A431AEFENFEELER
December 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee RREF2EM CHEZZESEMN BFRZE
before submission to the Board for approval. The Audit Committee BERA BHREENEREASHEINRBRATEN
was of the view that the preparation of such results complied with REMBAUGH  WEEHAIERE -
the applicable accounting standards and requirements as well as
the Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

Remuneration Committee yFMEES

The Remuneration Committee was established with written AARIBKYFHMEES  WREBELTWHRAUSE
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing 325 R FEEGTRISESBEE B & E - N
Rules and the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration ZEENFEBER(EPEE)RARTANANEIR
Committee are, among other things, to make recommendations ERBRERNESTERMEES  UHERRTBHEE
to the Board on the Company’s policy for human resource EREREREBHF MO R RERE -
management as well as establish and review policies and
structure in relation to remuneration for the Directors and senior
management.

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive YPNEEEH—RATEFARLLE  AWEE
Director, Mr. Zhou Jun and two independent non-executive VIRTEEFEGHEENRESLAEERK - Eix
Directors, Mr. Ip Wang Hoi and Mr. Zhang Shenjin. Mr. Ip Wang AEEBREKETTMHEERER -

Hoi currently serves as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The following is a summary of work performed by the NTARFNEZEeRFANMETHIERE:
Remuneration Committee during the year:

+ Assessed the performance of the Directors and senior s HHEAREEERARAKBEENRE R

management of the Company; and

+ Reviewed and recommended to the Board the s BREFMEREARAEENSAEEED

remuneration policy and structure relating to the Directors EE O OYRMEESSREEBRES -

and senior management of the Company.
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The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the
year ended 31 December 2023. Individual attendance of each
committee member at the meeting during the year ended 31
December 2023 is as follows:

Name of Committee Member ZEEREHS
Mr. Zhou Jun Bk &gas

Mr. Ip Wang Hoi LN

Mr. Zhang Shenijin RIE® A

The Company formulates a competitive remuneration policy
by reference to prevailing market salary practices in order to
attract, retain and motivate the Directors and senior management
of the Company to achieve the strategic targets of the Group.

The remuneration for the Directors and senior management
comprises basic salary, retirement benefits and discretionary
bonus. No Director is allowed to approve his/her own
remuneration. Details of the amount of emoluments of Directors
paid for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are, among other things, to
make recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill
vacancies on the Board and/or in senior management, to assess
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
to review the time commitment required of the Directors and to
evaluate whether the Directors have committed adequate time
to discharge their responsibilities to review and implement the
Nomination Policy and to consider related matters.

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director,
Ms. Shen Genlian, and two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Ip Wang Hoi and Mr. Wang Yunchen. Ms. Shen Genlian
currently serves as the chairperson of the Nomination Committee.

The following is a summary of work performed by the
Nomination Committee during the year:

¢ Reviewed and considered the Nomination Policy, the
structure, size and composition of the Board; and

e Assessed independence of the independent
non-executive Directors.
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The Nomination Committee carries out the process of
selecting and recommending candidates for directorships by
making reference to the balance of expertise, skills, experience,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of such individuals, the requirements of the business of the Group
and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. Further,
pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
and the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee, when
reviewing the composition of the Board, will have regard to the
Company’s Board Diversity Policy and the progress on achieving
the objectives set for implementing the said policy. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board
members.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the
year ended 31 December 2023. Individual attendance of each
committee member at the meeting during the year ended 31
December 2023 is as follows:

Name of Committee Member ZEERENS
Ms. Shen Genlian AR E &

Mr. Ip Wang Hoi HiFLTE

Mr. Wang Yunchen TFEREAE
BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board adopted
a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
considered diversity of board members can be achieved through
consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against selection criteria, having
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. The
ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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The Board’s composition as at the date of this report under

NI
ERERHRE

RARESAH St BB ESES AR

diversified perspectives is summarised as follows: N
Designation E_Ds INED§
LB WITES B ENTESR
Gender Females Males
MR foglis Elis
Age Grou
Education background Bachelor Postgraduate or above
BER Elae THFRAESA B
Professional experiences | o e 11-20 years
B ()  PUGERIEAE 11-20 4
1 2 3 4 5 6 7

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprises seven
members, two of whom is female director, thus achieving the
goal of gender diversity in the Board. As at 31 December
2023, the ratio of male and female in the workforce is 56%
and 44%, respectively; and the ratio of male and female in the
senior management is 60% and 40% respectively. As such,
the Company’s workforce and the senior management have
both achieved gender diversity between males and females.
The Company would continue to take into account of diversity
perspectives in its hiring.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy and monitor its implementation on an annual basis. The
Nomination Committee will report annually to shareholders on the
process adopted in relation to the Board appointments and the
consideration given to the diversity on the Board.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) on 9 December 2021 in relation to the
nomination, appointment, re-appointment of new Directors and
the nomination procedure of the Company, which provides that
in evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
Nomination Committee shall consider the candidates’ character
and integrity, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience, independence, diversity on the Board, willingness
to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board member
and such other criteria that are appropriate to the business of the
Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) on 9 December 2021. A summary of the Dividend Policy
is disclosed as below.

Subject to the approval of the shareholders and requirement
of the relevant law, the Company shall pay annual dividends to the
shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations environment is
stable and there is no significant investment or commitment made
by the Group, after taking into account the factors as detailed
below and determined by the Board from time to time. The
remaining net profits will be used for the Group’s development and
operations. The Dividend Policy allows the Company to declare
special dividends from time to time in addition to the annual
dividends.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take
into account, inter alia, (i) the Company’s actual and expected
financial performance; (ii) retained earnings and distributable
reserves of the Group; (iii) the level of the Group’s debts to
equity ratio, return on equity and the relevant financial covenants;
and (iv) the general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group’s business and other internal and external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company.

Any final dividends declared by the Company must be
approved by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders at an AGM
and must not exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The
Dividend Policy shall be reviewed periodically and submitted to
the Board for approval if amendments are required.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties set out in code provision A.2.1 of the
CG Code, namely: (i) to develop and review the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board; (ii) to review and monitor
the training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and senior management; (iii) to review and monitor the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; (iv) to develop, review and monitor the
code of conduct and compliance manual (including in relation to
securities trading) applicable to employees and the Directors; and
(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report in the Company’s
annual report.
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During the Board meeting held on 28 March 2024, the Board
reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and legal and regulatory compliance, training and
continuous professional development participations of the
Directors, as well as the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in maintaining a
sound and effective internal control and risk management systems
for the Group to safeguard shareholders’ investments and assets
of the Company at all times.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie as the
company secretary of the Company. Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie
of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, an
external service provider, has been engaged by the Company as
the company secretary to support the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that the Board policy and
procedures are followed. Ms. Liu Jinping is the financial controller
of the Company, and is the primary contact of Ms. Mak Po Man
Cherie at the Company.

Ms. Mak has confirmed that she has complied with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules in relation to the professional training
requirements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in maintaining a
sound and effective internal control and risk management systems
for the Group to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and
assets of the Company at all times.

The Company has established a set of comprehensive risk
management policies and measures to identify, evaluate and
manage risks arising from operations.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:
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Risk Identification

e ldentifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s
business and operations.

Risk Assessment

¢ Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

¢« Considers the impact and consequence on the business and
the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response

e Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

« Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

e Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

¢« Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

¢« Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management and
the Board regularly.

Control procedures have been designed to safeguard assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations; ensure proper maintenance
of accounting records for provision of reliable financial information
used within the business or for publication; and to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement, loss or
fraud.

32 VANOV HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED BEIZRERAR

2, Bz w8 B

s BNFWREHAEEEBIEEBREETZENR

B o

2 B ¥ 1l

o PR E BT AT A B B m R T
R

s EEARUEBNFENERULRHEAFHER
R E) AT RETE ©

2, B FE ¥

e FEBUBABRFENER  BIAREERT:
&

s EXREBREBRBIANIMEZRF - AMIL - #
R EEAR

2, B BE 2 % [E

s FEYEHEZERAR UHRAIXKBEENAINE
R ES I

REREMEREE  EITRAKREERE R
NEBEZERF &

e MEEEMNEZSETHERRBRERER

EERFEEREEERWIBLEE  BRE
STHEBED - RAIRRA: RRBEEREBHRELAR
FERREHAIZEVBEERN ST CREINZERE
REHERFERRL BRIMFTHAEHREER

3

°
A2



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and reviewing their effectiveness.
The Board oversees the overall risk management of the Group and
endeavours to identify, control impact of the identified risks and
facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
Audit Committee assists the Board in the review, which covers
operational, financial, compliance controls and risk management
functions, to maintain an adequate and effective internal control
system to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the
assets of the Group. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Company are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failures to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. A review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems, including
financial, operation and compliance controls, will be conducted by
the Board at least annually.

The Group does not have an internal audit function. Taking
into account the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s
business, the Board have sufficient capacity to oversee the design
and implementation of the risk management and internal control
system and to assess its effectiveness, and accordingly there is
no immediate need to set up an internal audit function within the
Group. The Directors will review annually the needs for internal
audit function.

The Company has engaged an external consultant to perform
a review on the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems. With the assistance of the external consultant, the Board
conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of the internal
control system of the Group and considered the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget. Save the Company's inadvertent
oversight of not awaring the exceeding of the de minimis threshold
of the continuing connected transactions as disclosed in the
section headed "Continuing Connected Transactions" under the
Directors' Report, the Board is not aware of any significant internal
control and risk management weaknesses nor significant breach
of limits or risk management policies, and considers the existing
internal control system and risk management system effective and
adequate.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group strictly follows the requirements of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance of (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”) and the Listing Rules and ensures that inside
information is disclosed to the public as soon as reasonably
practicable unless the information falls within any of the safe
harbours of the SFO. Before inside information is fully disclosed to
the public, such information is kept strictly confidential. In addition,
the Group adopted the policy of disclosing relevant information
only to appropriate staff within the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 and ensure that
they are prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure
the timely publication of the consolidated financial statements.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company with
regard to their reporting responsibilities on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements, is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 68 to 74 of this annual report.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
having made all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cause the Company not to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern
approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 2 EETE =
During the year ended 31 December 2023, services provided RELZE2023F12 A31RIEFE - INEZEENEF
to the Company by external auditor, Grant Thornton Hong Kong (BEB)EAMEHMERABAARNAGIRHEHRE X
Limited, and the fees paid or payable were as follows: W sk e B AT
RMB'000
ARBT T
Audit service for the year ended 31 December 2023 H Z£2023F12 A31H |- FE 8 F % RI5 1,060
Non-audit service EEZIRB
— Agreed-upon procedures engagement on interim — B AKE & £20235F6H30A 1E
financial information of the Group for the six months ME A & BB 7 B R 8 1 E
ended 30 June 2023 ZRRERF 100
1,160
ANNUAL REMUNERATION PAYABLE TO THE EAEHRERE ABNFE N
MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The annual remuneration of the members of the senior HE2023F12A31IB L FERGEE SN SRE
management by band for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as BABFEHFMOT :
follows:
Number of individuals
Remuneration bands (HK$) FMeEE (B AB#®AR
Nil — 1,000,000 Z£ %1,000,000
1,000,001 - 1,500,000 1,000,001%1,500,000 1
Further details of the Directors’ emoluments and five highest BIEEMARBIKED2BETHBEEFHRESHE &
paid individuals required to be disclosed under Appendix D2 of TEGEaRTMALZE—PHBIRBRATBERE
the Listing Rules are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial Pf3E9 o
statements.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Company has adopted the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy, which sets out the Company’s use of a number of
mechanisms to provide effective and efficient communication to
shareholders, among which, (i) the share registrar of the Company
serves the shareholders in respect of their shareholding and
related matter; (ii) corporate communications such as annual
reports, interim reports and circulars are provided in both English
and Chinese versions and are available on the Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at
www.vanov.cn; and (iii) general meetings provide a forum for the
shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the
Directors and senior management. At the AGM, the Chairperson
of the Board, the chairman of Board committees, or, in their
absence, other members of each committee will also answer
guestions from shareholders. The auditor of the Company will also
attend the annual general meeting to answer questions about the
conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor's
report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

The shareholders are encouraged to attend the general
meetings of the Company and the Directors always make efforts
to fully address any questions raised by the shareholders at the
AGM and the extraordinary general meetings (the “EGM”) of the
Company. In addition, the shareholders have the right to nominate
a person to stand for election as a director at any general meeting
by lodging a written notice to the Company.

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on 21
June 2024, the notice of which will be sent to the shareholders in
accordance with the Articles of Association, the Listing Rules and
other applicable laws and regulations.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board
has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ Communication Policy. The Board believes that
the diversified shareholders’ communication channels provide
shareholders and investors with effective access to information
about the Group, and that shareholders can contact the Board
directly and express their opinions on their own initiative through
the following procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board. The Board, therefore, endorses the effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy.
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Anti-corruption system and whistle-blowing
procedures

For the Group’s anti-corruption policy and whistle-
blowing procedures, please refer to “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” which is available on the websites
of the Company (www.vanov.cn) and of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkex.com.hk) on the even date.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting and to put forward
proposals at general meetings

The shareholders may put forward proposals at general
meetings by requisitioning an EGM. Pursuant to article 58 of the
Articles of Association, EGM may be convened by the Board on
the requisition of one or more shareholders holding, at the date of
deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Pursuant to article 85 of the Articles of Association, no
person other than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for election
as a Director at any general meeting unless a notice signed by a
shareholder (other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified
to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given
of his intention to propose such person for election and also a
notice signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to
be elected shall have been lodged at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong (as shown below) provided that
the minimum length of the period, during which such notice(s) are
given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that (if the notices are
submitted after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election) the period for lodgement of such
notice(s) shall commence on the day after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general
meeting.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing. Contact details are as follows:

Vanov Holdings Company Limited

No. 519, Section 2, Xinhua Avenue
Chengdu Strait Science and Technology
Industry Development Park Wenjiang
District Chengdu Sichuan Province, PRC

The Board regularly reviews shareholders' communication
policy to ensure its implementation and effectiveness and
to reflect current best practices in communications with the
shareholders and the investment community, and considers that
the shareholders' communication policy is effective and adequate.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no
changes in the Company’s constitutional documents. The latest
version of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles is available
on the websites of the Company (www.vanov.cn) and of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk).
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Shen Genlian (3t 1R #), aged 56, Chairperson, an executive
Director and the chairperson of the Nomination Committee of the
Company. She is responsible for strategic development and
providing advice on the operation and management of the Group.
Ms. Shen is also a director of each of Lion Courage Enterprises
Limited (“Lion Courage”), Vanov Tianhe International Holdings
Limited, Virtuous Way Limited, Marvel Dragon Development
Limited and Sichuan Huanlong Technology Fabric Co., Ltd.* (9)I]
IRERIMT#E AR AF) (“Sichuan Huanlong”), all of which being
subsidiaries of the Company. She is the spouse of Mr. Zhou Jun.
Ms. Shen obtained a Bachelor Degree in Mechanical Engineering
(Instrumentation and Test System) from East China Institute of
Technology* (Z£ % T 2 B3) (currently known as Nanjing University
of Science and Technology* (M R IE T RKEZ)) in July 1990 and
completed a study of Advanced Studies Course for Postgraduate
in Business Administration (% E R ER F XML A RRERE
31) at Southwestern University of Finance and Economics* (78 g
Bf 4& K 2) in December 2000. Ms. Shen has more than 21 years’
experience in papermaking felts manufacturing industry.

* for identification purposes only
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Mr. Zhou Jun ( A B ), aged 60, chief executive officer
of the Company, an executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He is responsible
for overall management, strategic and major decisions on the
development and daily operation of the Group. Mr. Zhou is also
director of each of Lion Courage, Chengdu Huanlong Funeng
Technology Co., Ltd* (A% EBER B Bl BE Bt L B R 2 7]) (“Huanlong
Funeng”), Chengdu Huanlong Lixin Technology Co., Ltd.* (B #B
REMMEI AR 27F) (“Huanlong Lixin”), Sichuan Huanlong
and Shanghai Jinxiong Paper Making Net Carpet Co., Ltd.* (£ /&
SREREMMPH AR AF]). He is the spouse of Ms. Shen Genlian.
Mr. Zhou graduated from the Technical School of China Academy
of Engineering Physics* (B TR WIEH T T ERK) in July
1982 and completed a study of Advanced Studies Course for
Postgraduate (In-service Programme) in Business Administration
(EEEERAREREEMECIE(ERZEE)) at the Business School
of Sichuan University* (P9Il K2 2F) in July 2000. Mr. Zhou
is a Vice President of the 6th Council of Sichuan Papermaking
Industry Association* (HJI| A ERTEHEE NEEEEE T
£), a Vice Chairman of the 6th Council of Sichuan Papermaking
Industry Association* (I A ERTEHBEE ~EESSEE
%K), a Vice Chairman of the 9th Council of Sichuan Province
Papermaking Association* (lU)I|EEHEeF N EEEE B
% ), a Standing Director of the 10th Council of Sichuan Textile
Engineering Society* (B & I RREeF+EEEEFH
2 &), a Standing Vice President of the 2nd Council of Sichuan
Papermaking Industry Association Household Paper Branch*
(mEaERTEREETRAE EF_ERFeRBKaAlg
£), an Individual Director of the 8th Council of China Technical
Association of Paper Industry (P EEHKEeF N\EFEFS [
A=) and was a Vice President of the 4th Council of China
Nonwovens & Industrial Textiles Association* (F B &£ % A 45 & &
TEHBEENEREELH EER). Mr. Zhou has more than 22 years’
experience in papermaking felts manufacturing industry.

* for identification purposes only
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Mr. Xie Zongguo (#RE), aged 52, an executive Director
of the Company. He is responsible for the overall daily operation
and research and development management, and participating
in decision-making in respect of major matters. Mr. Xie is also a
director of Sichuan Huanlong. Mr. Xie obtained a Bachelor Degree
in Textile Engineering from the Tianjin Textile Institute* (XZ#4)
B T 2P%) (currently known as Tianjin Polytechnic University*
(RAETEKE)) in July 1993. Mr. Xie has more than 21 years’
experience in papermaking felts manufacturing industry. He
currently serves as general manager and director of Sichuan
Huanlong. Mr. Xie is an individual director of the 8th Council of
China Technical Association of Paper Industry (1 B i 4 2 & FE )\
EEEZEAESE) and a technical expert of the PRC papermaking
felt industry jointly awarded by the China Non-wovens & Industrial
Textile Association, Papermaking Textile Branch* (¥ Bl & % B 45
BRTEBEERAHE RS E) and the Dewatering Equipment
Profession Committee of China Technical Association of Paper
Industry* (PREERBE R KBEMEXZEF).

Ms. Yuan Aomei (R #), aged 43, an executive Director
of the Company. She is responsible for providing advice on the
operation and management. Ms. Yuan obtained a graduation
certificate of Top-up Undergraduate Degree (2 £} F ARl 2 %
& Z) in Business Administration (part-time) from Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics* (78 B 48 X&) in July
2010. Ms. Yuan has more than 13 years’ experience in business
administration. Ms. Yuan joined Huanlong Industrial Group Co.
Ltd.* (3RBE T ¥ £ B AR 2 A]) in August 2008 and worked as the
director of its capital operations management centre* (& & &%
EIE LB EL) from 2014 to December 2020. She left Huanlong
Industrial Group Co. Ltd* (RELESEHRAF) and joined
Sichuan Huanlong as head of treasury since January 2021. Before
joining the Group, Ms. Yuan worked as office manager of Chengdu
Zhishan Tea Cultural Development Ltd.* (k%8 = & 2 b % &
B AF) from January 2007 to August 2008, and as capital
representative* (& € %M %)) of Chengdu Tianyou Development Ltd.*
(FK#B X & % & A R A 7)) from January 2003 to December 2006.

* for identification purposes only.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ip Wang Hoi ( ¥ %z B8 ), aged 48, an independent
non-executive Director of the Company. He is also the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee, and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. He is
responsible for supervising and providing independent advice on
the operation and management of the Group. Mr. Ip obtained his
Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting and Finance
from the University of Hong Kong in December 1998 and Master of
Business Administration from the University of Chicago Graduate
School of Business in March 2008. Mr. Ip has been a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
September 2001 and a fellow of CPA Australia since November
2020. Mr. Ip was designated as a Chartered Financial Analyst
by the CFA Institute in September 2005. Mr. Ip has more than
21 years’ experience in accounting, investment banking and
corporate finance. Mr. Ip joined Arthur Andersen in September
1998 and was transferred to PricewaterhouseCoopers with effect
from 1 July 2002. Mr. Ip left PricewaterhouseCoopers in April
2004 and his last position was a manager. Mr. Ip was employed
by J.P. Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited from March 2011
to March 2016 and his last position was an executive director in
the global investment banking department. Mr. Ip was employed
by Tuspark Financial Holdings (HK) Limited from March 2017
to February 2020 and his last position was the chief executive
officer of the corporate finance department — TUS Corporate
Finance Limited. Mr. Ip has been the responsible officer of Wings
Securities Limited since February 2020.

Mr. Zhang Shenjin (R & €), aged 53, an independent non-executive
Director of the Company. He is also a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He
is responsible for supervising and providing independent advice
on the operation and management of the Group. Mr. Zhang has
over 15 years of experience in financial news reporting. Mr. Zhang
worked for China Business Times Shandong Reporter Station*
(PEIHERILELDE ) from September 1992 to July 2006
and worked as reporter stationmaster* (i # Ufi 5 &) from 1997.
Mr. Zhang has served as the fourth secretary-general of China
Paper and Pulp Industry Chamber of Commerce* (R 2B T
B AR EE D) since November 2017. Mr. Zhang obtained a
graduation certificate of Junior College Program (2RI £ FEF £)
in Chinese Language and Literature by correspondence education
from Shandong Heze Education University* (LI 3R& 2% 5 £ x)
(currently known as Heze University* (377 /& £ [x)) in June 1992.

* for identification purposes only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Yunchen (E# M), aged 39, an independent
non-executive Director of the Company. He is also the chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. He is responsible for supervising and
providing independent advice on the operation and management
of the Group. Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor Degree, a Master
Degree and a Doctorate Degree in Financial Management from
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics* (7 & 81 4% X
) in June 2007, March 2010 and December 2013, respectively.
Mr. Wang was awarded the professorship of Accounting
qualification issued by Sichuan Agricultural University (P9I & %
K Z) in December 2020. Mr. Wang has been working for College
of Management of Sichuan Agricultural University (PUJII 2 % KX
&) since January 2014 and serves as the head of its department
of financial management. Mr. Wang currently serves as a
postdoctoral researcher at the Postdoctoral Program Research
Station of business administration* (L E &R E L BB R F
Uk) at Fudan University. Mr. Wang was awarded the third prize
of the 18th Social Science Outstanding Achievement of Sichuan
Province* (HJIIEE TN\ A ERZEFHR=54) in August
20109.

Mr. Wang obtained a listed company senior management
training* (EMAE = A EE A B553I) graduation certificate issued
by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in March 2017. Mr. Wang has
served as the independent director of Sichuan Dawn Precision
Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300780) since September 2022. Mr. Wang
served as an independent director of Sichuan Jinyu Automobile
City (Group) Co., Ltd* (M| FAEH(EE) KRB HRAR),
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000803) from October 2019 to December 2019, an independent
director of Chengdu Xingrong Environmental Co., Ltd.* (5 #B 7 £
BRIBEBRMER XA, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 000598) from April 2017 to August 2020
and an independent director of Sichuan Crun Co., Ltd.* (&9 )I|)I|&
f& 17 A BR 2 7]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 002272) from August 2017 to March 2022.

* for identification purposes only.
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EERGREEEBRE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Gao Qiang, aged 49, the sales director of the Group.
He is responsible for the creation of sales strategies and the
management of sales goals and targets. Mr. Gao has more
than 21 years’ experience in sales and papermaking felts
manufacturing industry. Before joining the Group, Mr. Gao has
worked for Huanlong Industrial Group Co. Ltd* RE T¥ £ E
BPRAF]) as sales manager since December 2001, responsible
for the creation of sales strategies and the management of sales
goals and targets. Mr. Gao left Huanlong Industrial Group Co.
Lid* JRELEEBE AR A F)) and joined Sichuan Huanlong as
sales manager in February 2007 and currently serves as the sales
director of the Group. Mr. Gao obtained a graduation certificate
of Junior College Program (E £l £ % £) in Textile Engineering
issued by the Wuhan Textile Industry College* (i % %7 4% T 2 F%)
(currently known as Wuhan Textile University* (i £ 45 4% X £2)) in
July 1998.

Ms. Lin Xiaoyan, aged 42, the director of the operation
department of the Group. She is responsible for the promotion
of the operational efficiency and quality for the Group’s overall
marketing. Ms. Lin has more than 15 years’ experience in
corporate management and operation. She joined Sichuan
Huanlong since its establishment in February 2007 and was
promoted to operation director in April 2019. Ms. Lin obtained
a graduation certificate of Junior College Program (& f} £ 2
& &) in Industrial Enterprise Management jointly issued by the
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics* (74 & 81
£ KE) and the Sichuan Province Higher Education Self-study
Examination Committee* (W JI| E S EHEEEEH LB o)
in December 1999 and a graduation certificate of Specialized
Secondary School Program (Z@FEHEXEREBEFEFE) in
Pulp and Paper Making Process from the Sichuan Light Industry
School* ()11 & & T 2 2 4) in July 2000.

Ms. Mak Po Man Cherie, aged 49, is the company secretary
of the Company. Ms. Mak is the Vice President of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. She has worked
for various professional firms and listed companies in Hong Kong,
with over 18 years of experience in the fields of audit, accounting,
corporate finance, compliance and corporate secretarial. Ms.
Mak obtained a Master of Corporate Governance degree from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2017. She has been
admitted as an associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom in 2017, a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in 2003, and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in 2006.

* for identification purposes only.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
14 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on page 75.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 4 HK cents per share for the year ended 31 December
2023 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Tuesday, 2 July 2024. The final
dividend is subject to the approval of the shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 21 June
2024, if approved, it will be paid in cash on or around Friday, 30
August 2024.

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the Company
has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders amounted to RMB73,520,000,
representing the aggregation of the share premium, the
contributed surplus and the retained profits.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 168 of the
annual report.
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PROPERTIES OWNED BY THE GROUP

The Group owns properties in Wenjiang District, Chengdu,
Sichuen, the PRC for production (the “Properties”). Details of the
Properties owned by the Group as at 31 December 2023 are set
out on page 166.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

One factory building of the Properties was on 5 December
2021 leased to an independent third party in a short term basis for
investment purpose. Details of the movements in the investment
property of the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements. Details of the major investment
property held by the Group as at 31 December 2023 are set out on
page 167.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and
equipment at a cost of approximately RMB196.1 million (2022:
RMB89.8 million) for the purpose of expanding its business.
Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business and indication of likely
future development in the Group’s business are provided in the
“Chairperson’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” sections of this annual report. An analysis using key
financial performance indicators is set out in “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section while the principal risks
and uncertainties are contained in the “Notes to the Financial
Statements” section of this annual report. Compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group can be found throughout this annual report, in particular,
the “Corporate Governance Report”. Discussions on the Group’s
environmental policies and performance are covered by a
separate Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report
which will be available on the Company’s website under the
“Corporate Social Responsibility” section and the website of the
Stock Exchange on the same day of this annual report. The above
sections form part of this Report of the Directors.
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Key relationships with stakeholders

The Group believes that its success depends on the support
from its key stakeholders, namely employees, customers and
suppliers.

Employees

The Group endeavours to provide better working conditions
and attractive remunerations to its employees. The Group offers
remuneration package to its employees, which include salary,
allowances and payment for welfare contributions, including social
insurance contributions and housing provident fund contributions.
Based on the performance of each employee, the Group will
provide salary increments, bonuses and promotions, so as to
encourage the employees’ personal developments. The Group
provides regular on-the-job training to its employees in order to
build up a sound career platform for employees.

Customers

The Group has developed strong relationships with its
customers. The Group communicates and works closely with its
customers during the entire production process to ensure that its
products are properly designed and manufactured in accordance
with the customers’ production needs. For the purpose of
strengthening business relationships with customers, the Group’s
sales and marketing teams will visit customers’ production
facilities regularly to understand their needs and keep abreast of
the latest development and trends of its customers’ products. As
part of the Group’s after-sales service, it issues complimentary
technical advisory proposals to the customers analysing the
performance of their production machines, in order to provide
tailor-made papermaking felts solutions to its customers.
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Suppliers

The Group maintains good relationships with its key suppliers
through the established long-term business relationships with
them. The Group carefully selects its suppliers of raw materials
and maintains a list of approved suppliers. The approved suppliers
are selected based on a number of factors, including product
guality, supply capacity, pricing and way of settlement. The Group
believes that the established long-term business relationships
with these key suppliers enables the Group to have a steady
supply of raw materials which are manufactured according to
the specifications and timing requested by it and its customers,
and such relationships have been built upon a mutual trust and
confidence over the years of cooperation between the Group and
suppliers.

RESERVES

Movements during the year in the reserves of the Group and
the Company are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 78 and note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of
the Company are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BONDS ISSUED

The Company did not have any bonds in issue or existence for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

BORROWINGS

Details of borrowings of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in notes 25 and 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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TAXATION

The information on the taxation of the Company and the
Group in 2023 is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Shen Genlian (Chairperson)

Mr. Zhou Jun (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Xie Zongguo

Ms. Yuan Aomei

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ip Wang Hoi
Mr. Zhang Shenjin
Mr. Wang Yunchen

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page
39 to page 43 of this annual report.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract
(“Directors’ service Contract(s)”) with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from 22 June 2022 which is
subject to termination by either party giving not less than three
month’s written notice. All the Directors, including the independent
non-executive Directors, are subject to retirement by rotation
at the annual general meetings of the Company pursuant to the
Articles of Association.
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Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association,
notwithstanding any other provisions in the Articles, at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 84(2) of the Articles of Association,
a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall
continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting at which he
retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far
as necessary to ascertain the number of directors to retire by
rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself
for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those
of the other Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have
been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment
and so that as between persons who became or were last
re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
Any Director appointed by the Board pursuant to Article 83(3) shall
not be taken into account in determining which particular Directors
or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation.

Accordingly, Ms. Yuan Aomei, Mr. Zhang Shenjin and Mr.
Wang Yunchen will retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’' INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1), all change and updated
information regarding the Directors and chief executive are set
out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management”. Save as disclosed in the above section, there
was no change to any of the information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51(2)(a) to (e) and (g).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five highest paid
individuals during the year are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their
respective offices. Such provisions were in force during the
course of the year under review and remained in force as of the
date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

EERBESITHRAEBNEREH

RIEFIISIB)IEHRTE BHEERERTTHRA
BMAEEHEZHLREFHNERN EERaREEE
WERE]—& - R EXFETEEN  BIETWERZ
B ZE IR 15 513.51(2)(a) 1& = (e) 16 F1 (9) 1& #8 7& T A

= .

EEFMROERSHFMAL

EFRFANEEZFHLIERESFMALTOFES
TERERE TR -

BEFNREME

REABEEME  EFTREANBRBHRITH
BEGBREBRE)SEMEL RAEXREROEM
ERMBBARINAANRDL  ER  WE BX -
BERMX G ERRRNEE M GG THE
THRARELXBEX AHEEIAREEFELEN B
HERAREABDMRER -

Annual Report 2023 £ 51



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT EERNRYD - HEROREEZPIHER
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING ERXRE
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of R2023F12H31H AR A ZEEF N AR A E

each Director and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, ERAEEER (TR LFFRBEBKRIEXVE) 8K
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its - HEROREESZET  EERBEESFRBER
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the BIEXVEBETRE 7 288 M & AN RQ &) [ it 22 B i) #E ==
SFO) as recorded in the register which have to be notified to the E#AE  HRBEBHFRBAEKROIFEIEALENE
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 EftArEZEERARE  IBREBEZRESTAEMNGE AR
of Part XV of the SFO or are required to be kept under Section AR ERERABRWNT

352 of the SFO or required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
(i) RROHPHNER

(i) Long positions in the Shares

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Shares held/ interest in the
Name of Director Capacity/Nature interested in Company
BE/BEER DT RS
EEnA 56 HHE KRG EE WEERNBE DL
Ms. Shen Genlian (Note) Founder of a discretionary trust; 359,947,200 74.46%
interest of spouse
AR E At (H 7)) TREFAZA: RBER
Mr. Zhou Jun (Note) Founder of a discretionary trust; 359,947,200 74.46%
interest of spouse
JE Bk 5 A& (K at) PREEFAIZA REER

Note: Perfect Angle Limited (“Perfect Angle”) and Wonderful #7 7% : Perfect Angle Limited ([Perfect Anglel) &

Advisor Limited (“Wonderful Advisor”) are holding
269,960,400 and 89,986,800 Shares. Each of Perfect Angle
and Wonderful Advisor is directly and wholly owned by Vistra
Trust (Singapore) Pte. Limited (“Vistra Trust”), the trustee
of the SGL Trust and the ZJ Trust. The SGL Trust is an
irrevocable discretionary trust established by Fame Attain
Limited (“Fame Attain”), which is wholly-owned by Ms.
Shen Genlian, as the settlor. The beneficiaries of the SGL
Trust are Ms. Shen Genlian and the children of Ms. Shen
Genlian. The ZJ Trust is an irrevocable discretionary trust
established by South Source Enterprises Limited (“South
Source”), which is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhou Jun, as the
settlor. The beneficiaries of the ZJ Trust are Mr. Zhou Jun
and the children of Ms. Shen Genlian. Ms. Shen Genlian and
Mr. Zhou Jun are wife and husband. Accordingly, each of Ms.
Shen Genlian and Mr. Zhou Jun is deemed to be interested in
the said 269,960,400 and 89,986,800 Shares (in aggregate
359,947,200 Shares) under the SFO.
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(i) Long position in the ordinary shares of (i) AEB EEEERINER

associated corporations

Number of
Shares or
registered Approximate
Name of associated capital held/ percentage of
Name of Director corporation Capacity/Nature interested in interest
BEBE
R RORFE BB
EEnA HEEE A B 5%/ tHE MEXRHAE BAk
Ms. Shen Genlian (Notel) Perfect Angle Founder of a 100 100%
discretionary trust
MR E L+ (7 77F1) RHEEFEZA
Mr. Zhou Jun (Notel) Perfect Angle Interest of spouse 100 100%
JE Bk 5t A (B 5t1) fic 15 # s
Ms. Shen Genlian (Note2) Huanlong Lixin Interest in a controlled RMB10,000 1%
corporation/interest
of spouse
LRt (fat2) RELM REZREZENER -  AR¥10,0007T
RE#ER
Mr. Zhou Jun (Note2) Huanlong Lixin Interest of spouse RMB10,000 1%

B KL (M E2)

Notes:

RELM

R ¥

K et

A K #10,0007T

Perfect Angle is holding 269,960,400 Shares. Perfect Angle
is directly and wholly owned by Vistra Trust, the trustee of the
SGL Trust. The SGL Trust is an irrevocable discretionary trust
established by Fame Attain, which is wholly-owned by Ms.
Shen Genlian, as the settlor. The beneficiaries of the SGL Trust
are Ms. Shen Genlian and the children of Ms. Shen Genlian.
Ms. Shen Genlian and Mr. Zhou Jun are wife and husband.
Accordingly, Perfect Angle is a holding company and an
associated corporation of the Company, and each of Ms. Shen
Genlian and Mr. Zhou Jun is deemed to be interested in the said
shares of the associated corporation under the SFO.

Huanlong Lixin is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, the equity interest of which is held as to 99% by
Huanlong Funeng, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and 1% by Huanlong Industrial Group Co., Ltd* (RE L X &£EE
R 2 7]), respectively. Huanlong Industrial Group Co., Ltd* (IR #
TEELBEHGREAA) s held as to 75% by Ms. Shen Genlian and
25% by Mr. Zhou, respectively. Ms. Shen Genlian and Mr. Zhou
Jun are wife and husband. Accordingly, Huanlong Lixin is an
associated corporation of the Company, and each of Ms. Shen
Genlian and Mr. Zhou Jun is deemed to be interested in the
equity interest of the associated corporation under the SFO.

Perfect Angle 5 5269,960,4000% % {5 - Perfect
Angle FiVistra Trust (SGL Trust® st A) E#E 2
BEWA > SGL Trust A 2 BURK ML &9 1 Al B 88 2 4
ER ERHABRELTEAVERTAZEARE
B oSGL TrusttIRm AR R BERZ T AR LR
Bt TFR - ABRERTRAELERKXE °
Et - BREFESH R EEA - Perfect Angle &7
ARAMEZER AR LA EZE  BARELTIRE
BEESEHE AR ERBBEBROPHESE#

75 o
fm

BREYMAARTNBEEIIEZENBRAR HR
EDRBEARARMNEENBARIRERERTE
9NN HAREIXSEEAR AR AL - RiE
TX5£EAERAADINBELBELLIFF75N R
MABLELEREA2L% - IRELETRABLES
XE oAl BEBHFRBERN  RELMRA
ARABMEELIE BLREZLTIRABLES
BRGE AR AEREPHEEE -
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Save as disclosed in the foregoing, as at 31 December 2023,
none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their
respective close associates had any interests or short positions
in any Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register
required to be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to
the Model Code.

* for identification purposes only.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the
year under review or subsisting at the end of the year under review
are set out below:

Share Option Scheme

On 9 December 2021, a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) was approved and adopted by the
shareholders, under which, options may be granted to any Eligible
Participants (as defined below) to subscribe for the Shares
subject to the terms and conditions stipulated in the Share Option
Scheme. The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as
an incentive to the Directors and the Eligible Participants.
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The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company with the view to achieving the following objectives: (i)
motivating the Eligible Participants to optimise their performance
efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and (ii) attracting and
retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going business relationships
with the Eligible Participants whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group.

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option
to subscribe for such number of new Shares as the Board may
determine to the following persons (the “Eligible Participants”):
(i) any full-time or part-time employee of any member of the
Group; (ii) any consultant or adviser of any member of the
Group; (iii) any Director (including executive, non-executive
or independent non-executive Directors) of any member of
the Group; (iv) any substantial shareholder of any member of
the Group; and (v) any distributor, contractor, supplier, agent,
customer, business partner or service provider of any member of
the Group. The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant
of any option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case
may be, where required under the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors) from time to time on the basis of
the participant’s contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company) to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
48,000,000 Shares, being 9.93% of the total number of the Shares
in issue as at the date of this annual report.

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other scheme of the Company (including
both exercised and outstanding options) to each participant in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of the
Shares in issue for the time being. Any further grant of options
in excess of the 1% limit shall be subject to the shareholders’
approval in general meeting with such participant and his
associates abstaining from voting.
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An offer for the grant of option must be accepted within seven
days from the offer date. Options granted shall be taken up upon
payment of HK$1.00 as consideration for the grant of option.
Options may be exercised at any time from the date which option
is deemed to be granted and accepted and expired on the date
as the Board in its absolute discretion determine and which shall
not exceed a period of 10 years from the date on which the share
options are deemed to be granted and accepted but subject to
the provisions for early termination thereof contained in the Share
Option Scheme.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be determined by the Board and shall not be less
than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant,
which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the
business of dealing in securities; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing from 9 December 2021. As at 31
December 2023, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is
approximately 7 years and 11 months. No share option has been
granted by the Company under the Share Option Scheme since its
adoption up to the date of this annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was
48,000,000, representing approximately 9.93% of the issued
Shares as at the date of this annual report.

Other than the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2023 or subsisting at the end of the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Details of retirement benefit plans of the Group during the
year under review are set out in note 2.20 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, so far as the Directors are aware,
the interest and short positions of the persons, other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company, in the Shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO and which fell to
be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO are as follows:

Name Capacity/Nature

wE /BB 56 HHE

Beneficial owner
Em#EAA

Perfect Angle

Beneficial owner
En#EAA

Wonderful Advisor

Vistra Trust (Note) (4 7+) Trustee

2FEA

Note: Vistra Trust is the trustee of the SGL Trust and ZJ Trust and holds
100% issued share capital of both Perfect Angle and Wonderful
Advisor, thus Vistra Trust is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Perfect Angle and Wonderful Advisor for the
purpose of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed under the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, at no time during
the year under review was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities
(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate governance. Particulars of the Company’s corporate
governance practices are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 19 to 38 of this annual report.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions as disclosed in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements and section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” below, there were no other
transactions, arrangements or contracts that are significant in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or
any of its subsidiary was a party and in which a Director or his/
her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year ended 31
December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts, no other contracts concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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COMPETING INTEREST

Apart from the Group's business, none of the Director,
the Controlling Shareholders or any of their respective close
associates was engaged in or had any interest in any business
that competes or may compete with the principal business of the
Group, which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules, or has any other conflict of interest with the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this annual report.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Ms. Shen Genlian and Mr. Zhou Jun (the “Covenantors”)
entered into a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of
Non-Competition”) on 9 December 2021 in favour of the
Company (for itself and for the benefit of each other member
of the Group), pursuant to that they will not directly or indirectly
participate in, or hold any right or interest, or otherwise be
involved in any business which may be in competition with
the business of the Group during the period that the Deed of
Non-Competition remains effective.

The Company has received the annual confirmation
of the Covenantors in respect of their compliance with the
non-competition undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The independent non-executive Directors also reviewed the
Covenantors’ compliance with the non-competition undertakings.
The independent non-executive Directors confirmed that
the Covenantors were not in breach of the non-competition
undertakings during 31 December 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association of the Company or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a
pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares. If
the shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or exercising of any
rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to consult their
professional advisers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions of the Group made during the
year ended 31 December 2023 were disclosed in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 9 December 2021, Sichuen Huanlong entered into a
master supply agreement (the “2021 Huanlong New Material
Master Supply Agreement”) with Sichuan Huanlong New
Material Ltd.* (PU)II 3R 8 7 # ¥ A R A &) (“Huanlong New
Material”), pursuant to which, Sichuan Huanlong agreed to sell
papermaking felts to Huanlong New Material on a non-exclusive
basis for a term commencing from the Listing Date and ending on
31 December 2023.

On 9 December 2021, Sichuen Huanlong entered into a
master supply agreement (the “2021 Huanlong New Material
Master Supply Agreement” together with the 2021 Huanlong
New Material Master Supply Agreement, the “2021 Master
Supply Agreements”) with Sichuan Huanlong Daily Products
Ltd.* (F9)I13R 3£ EAmAR A R]) (“Huanlong Daily Products”),
pursuant to which, Sichuan Huanlong agreed to sell papermaking
felts to Huanlong Daily Products on a non-exclusive basis for
a term commencing from the Listing Date and ending on 31
December 2023.

* for identification purposes only
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The papermaking felts to be supplied by the Group under
the 2021 Master Supply Agreements are mainly used by
Huanlong New Material and Huanlong Daily Products in their
manufacturing process as a raw material for the production of
various paper related products. Since supply of papermaking felts
is in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, the
transactions under the 2021 Master Supply Agreements provides
a steady income of the Group.

Huanlong Daily Products is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Huanlong New Material. Huanlong New Material is held as to
approximately 33.44% by Huanlong Industrial Group Co., Ltd* &
BETESEABMRAR (which is in turn owned as to approximately
75% by Ms. Shen Genlian and 25% by Mr. Zhou Jun),
approximately 14.26% by New Stream Investment Limited (“New
Stream”) (which is an independent third party), approximately
12.25% by Beijing Sequoia Mingde Equity Investment Center
(Limited Partnership)* (it RA L HEZEREEEFRL(ARAE
%)) (“Beijing Sequoia Mingde”), an independent third party,
approximately 3.48% by Ms. Shen Genlian and the remaining
interest of approximately 36.57% by 15 other independent third
parties, respectively. Hence Huanlong New Material and Huanlong
Daily Products are therefore associates of Ms. Shen Genlian and
Mr. Zhou Jun, and connected persons of the Company.

New Stream is a limited liability partnership incorporated
in the Cayman Islands and is principally engaged in investment
activities. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information
and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, New Stream
is ultimately wholly-owned by Redview Capital L.P. (& & %& AX),
a private equity investing fund set up in the Cayman Islands
that focuses on traditional growth capital, on investments in new
materials, clean energy, consumer, and advanced manufacturing
in China and is ultimately controlled by Mr. Hebert Pang Kee
Chan, a Malaysian natural person.

Beijing Sequoia Mingde is a limited partnership incorporated
in the PRC, whose general partner is Beijing Sequoia Kund
Investment Management Centre (Limited Partnership)* (1t & 41 2
HMERETERLN(ERSEE)) (“Beijing Sequoia Kund”). To the
best knowledge and information of the Directors, Beijing Sequoia
Mingde is owned as to approximately 66.67% by Beijing Sequoia
Shengde Equity Investment Centre (Limited Partnership)* (1t 5 41
EEREREREFRL(ERSEE)) (“Beijing Sequoia Shengde”)
and approximately 33.3% by Beijing Sequoia Capital Equity
Investment Centre (Limited Partnership)* (it R4L 2 B E L E R E
(B RAR)).

* for identification purposes only
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To the best knowledge and information of the Directors,
Beijing Sequoia Shengde is owned as to approximately 40.9%
by Beijing Sequoia Virtue Equity Investment Centre (Limited
Partnership)* (It A DEBREREFRL(BERER)) (“Beijing
Sequoia Virtue”). Ningbo Meishan Free Trade Port Zone Sequoia
Aoide Investment Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)*
(ERMLULRBNABRACERREEREGRBLE(ARER))
(“Ningbo Meishan”) is the general partner of Beijing Sequoia
Virtue.

Each of Beijing Sequoia Kund, Beijiing Sequoia Shengde,
Beijing Sequoia Virtue and Ningbo Meishan is an entity indirectly
non-wholly owned by HongShan (4142 #1 E).

HongShan is a leading venture capital and private equity
investing fund investing across technology, healthcare and
consumer sectors. Since 2005, HongShan has been fostering
entrepreneurship and innovation, backing more than 1,500
companies around the globe with transformative technologies,
disruptive business models and high-growth potential.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and
belief, having made all reasonable enquiries Huanlong New
Material, New Stream, Beijing Sequoia Mingde and its ultimate
beneficial owners are independent third parties.

The transactions contemplated under the 2021 Maser
Supply Agreements were aggregated and treated as if they were
one transaction under Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules, and
the aggregate sales were used for calculating the applicable
percentage ratios.

As at the date of entering into the 2021 Master Supply
Agreements, based on the historical sales amounts and
expected demand from Huanlong New Materials and Huanlong
Daily Products, the estimated aggregate sales under the 2021
Master Supply Agreements for each of the three years ending 31
December 2023 would be less than HK$3.0 million per year. Since
all applicable percentage ratios in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the 2021 Master Supply Agreements were
below 5% and the aggregated sales therein were less than
HK$3,000,000 per year, the transactions contemplated under
the 2021 Master Supply Agreements constituted de minimis
continuing connected transactions under Rule 14A.76(1)(c) of the
Listing Rules, and were exempt from reporting, annual review,
announcement and the Company’s independent shareholders’
approval requirements at the time being. No annual cap was
therefore set for the transactions contemplated under the Master
Supply Agreements.

* for identification purposes only
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Due to the increasing demand of the papermaking felts by
Huanlong New Material after the expansion of its production site
and the commencement of operation of its new papermaking
machines in 2022, Huanlong New Material and Huanlong Daily
Products increased its purchase of papermaking felts from the
Group and exceeded the de minimis threshold and amounted
to approximately HK$4.5 million. A new annual cap of the 2021
Master Supply Agreements of not more than HK$6.0 million (the
“New Annual Cap”) was set for the year ending 31 December
2023.

The 2021 Master Supply Agreements expired on 31 December
2023, the Group renew the agreements by entering into the 2024
Huanlong New Material Master Supply Agreement and the 2024
Huanlong Daily Products Master Supply Agreement (together,
the “2024 Master Supply Agreements”) with Huanlong New
Material and Huanlong Daily Products, respectively on 21 March
2024 for a term of 3 years commencing from 1 January 2024 and
ending on 31 December 2026. The annual caps in respect of the
aggregate sales of papermaking felts by the Group under the 2024
Master Supply Agreements are RMB9,000,000, RMB9,900,000
and RMB9,900,000 for 3 years ending 31 December 2026.
Details of the 2024 Master Supply Agreements were set out in
the Company’s announcements dated 21 March 2024 and 9 April
2024, respectively.

As all the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profit
ratio) for the highest annual cap are less than 5%, the transactions
contemplated under the 2024 Master Supply Agreements are
subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review
requirements, but exempted from the circular and the independent
shareholders’ approval under Rule 14A.76(2)(b) of the Listing
Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Group’s continuing connected transactions and have confirmed
that these continuing connected transactions were entered into
(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, (ii)
on normal commercial terms or better, and (iii) in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.
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Save as disclosed above, the Company has complied with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules from
time to time in respect of the continuing connected transactions of
the Group disclosed above.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
a letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions of the Group as disclosed
above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The
auditor has confirmed that nothing has come to their attention that
causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions:

(i) have not been approved by the Company’s Board of
Directors;

(i) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;

(i)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such

transactions; and

(iv)  have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” above, there was no transactions, arrangements
and contracts of significance, to which the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

CONTRACTS BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND
ITS CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as the sections headed “Related Party Transactions”
and “Continuing Connected Transactions” above and note 34
to the consolidated financial statements, there is no contract
of significance, whether for provision of service or otherwise,
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
Controlling Shareholders or any of the Controlling Shareholders’
subsidiaries at any time during the year under review.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the aggregate sales attributable to
the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
16.7% of the Group’s total sales for the year and the sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to approximately
6.8%. The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 77.3% of the
Group’s total purchases for the year and the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 51.8%.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder
which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owned more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any interest in
the share capital of any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or
customers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this annual report.
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REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Yunchen,
Mr. Zhang Shenjin and Mr. Ip Wang Hoi. This 2023 annual report
has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

AUDITORS

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited, the auditors of the
Company, will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming
AGM of the Company and be eligible to offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution will be submitted to the AGM to be
held on 21 June 2024 to seek the shareholders’ approval on the
reappointment of Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited as auditors
of the Company until the conclusion of the next AGM and to
authorise the Board to fix their remuneration.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company will hold the AGM on Friday, 21 June 2024. A
notice convening the AGM will be published and despatched to
shareholders in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the eligibility to attend and vote at
the 2024 AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 18 June 2024 to Friday, 21 June 2024 (both days
inclusive) for the purpose of determining the entitlement of
attending and voting at the AGM to be held on Friday, 21 June
2024. The record date will be Friday, 21 June 2024. In order
to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificate must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 17 June 2024.
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Entitlement to the proposed final dividend

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, 27 June 2024 to Tuesday, 2 July 2024 (both
days inclusive) for the purpose of determining the entitlement of
receiving the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The record date will be Tuesday, 2 July 2024. In order to qualify
for receiving the final dividend, all transfers accompanied by the
relevant share certificate must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Wednesday, 26 June 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed in this report, no significant events of the
Group occurred after 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report.

On behalf of the Board

Shen Genlian
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R Y

To the members of Vanov Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vanov
Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 75 to 165, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgment,
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These

in our professional
were of most significance in our audit of the

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Revenue recognition for sales of papermaking felts
HEEMAEHNRERR

Refer to Notes 2.16 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements
BRAHEEHBIRENF21654
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HREREE EENERNMTEERERREHE

Revenue principally comprises revenue from the design, Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
manufacture and sales of papermaking felts. included:

WHETERERT RENHEEERFTUMENRE - EETHRERRANEREFBE

Sales of papermaking felts are recognised when control of e
the goods has been transferred to the customers, being at
the point in time when the goods are delivered.
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We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit
matter because of its significance to the Group and revenue
is one of the key performance indicators of the Group,
therefore it is a significant audit risk area. .
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obtaining an understanding of the processes and internal
control in relation to recognition of revenue from sales of
papermaking felts;
TRESEMAEANBRNANBE RAIPEEZE
assessing the appropriateness of judgment made by
management on revenue recognition on the sales of
papermaking felts by reviewing the sales contracts, on a
sample basis, with reference to HKFRS 15;
2REBUBRELUFISRMEEHEESD - UFME
EEERREEEAERRAFMFHNABESRE:

testing the revenue recognised from sales of papermaking
felts, on a sample basis, against sales contracts or orders,
and customer acknowledgement of delivery to evaluate
whether the control of the papermaking felts has passed
to the customers;

MEEREEANATENBETNRIN DR (B IERTHE
MERNZFIRESCCBRIBEE) RWAABEEERER
FfT T 28 B0 W &R -

performing analysis of revenue, gross profit trend and
their fluctuation; and

ATl EFBEREKE: R

assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure with
respect to revenue recognised

i EEERBRERAELEOREESSRHA -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

R Y

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B BWRENRETG

BREXSEHGE)

Refer to Notes 2.9, 18 and 36.5 to the consolidated financial statements

R E BRI F2.9 - 18K36.5

Key Audit Matter
BREEXREE

The Group’s net trade receivables amounting to
approximately RMB173,791,000 has been net off with
lifetime expected credit losses (“ECL”) on trade receivables
amounted to approximately RMB5,202,000 as at 31
December 2023.

M2023F12H31H - BEEEBEMEZERWRFBEFHENRAR
¥173,791,000c - HEHNBE SR U R EN 2 HEAHEE
BE(ERESEESR] S ARYS5,202,0007T -

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables
as a key audit matter due to the significance of trade
receivables to the Group’s consolidated financial position
and the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating ECL of the Group’s
trade receivables at the end of the reporting period.
BHORKFENRETHCREESREAFREREE
RAEZREFIEY E£ENGEEMBRABERXR ML
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENERNNEERRERSE

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment assessment of
trade receivables included:

EEFEESRERABETGENEZRFEE:

e obtaining an understanding of management’s processes
and internal control regarding the collection and the
assessment of the recoverability of trade receivables;

e THEREWEEZZEUGKRIEMNBIE XA - LA R
B 5 e WK IA AT & B Y1 By AT A

* testing the accuracy of the trade receivables ageing
analysis, on a sample basis, by checking to the source
documents;

e RERBXH  UHBKAABZIRERENERERITES
HEHE

* evaluating the management’s assessment on the ECL
of trade receivables, including their identification of
credit-impaired receivables and the reasonableness of
management’s grouping of the remaining trade receivables
into different categories in the provision matrix, and the
basis of estimated loss rates applied in each category
in the provision matrix, with reference to the historical
payment records, public available information and credit
history of the Group’s customers and the correspondence
with customers; and

- Z2RBANFREZHE  2HRAFEHNUKL EEBEEENE
B LEBABAM UTRERERE S EKFIAEAY
FEEBFEELNAS  BEREEERENRENRIE &
BEEEABWERERERANTRENANBHES
JEWFIE S URBEHEERANSHEIBEREENM
AEEE R

e Evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of trade receivables to the consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2023 annual
report of the Company, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagements and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

¢« conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

« evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

« obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, action taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RBETRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

28 March 2024

Lau Kwong Kei
Practising Certificate No.: P07578
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RERakEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12 310 - FE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
N3 AR®TR AR®FT
Revenue & 4 237,370 217,756
Cost of sales Eiz - (110,881) (100,939)
Gross profit EF 126,489 116,817
Other income H A W A 5 13,500 20,102
Fair value loss on financial assets at JEAFEFABZHNEMEEDN
fair value through profit or loss ~NTEEE 19 (154) 6]
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (22,400) (21,595)
Administrative and other operating TREEMEERS
expenses (42,326) (40,345)
Finance costs B 7% B A 6 (11,714) (10,536)
Profit before income tax B AT 158 i A& A 7 63,395 64,442
Income tax expense P15 % % 8 (9,712) (11,442)
Profit and total comprehensive FRERANRZEKZALE
income for the year 53,683 53,000
Profit and total comprehensive UTFE&HEMERNR
income attributable to : ZEHWRFHEE:
Equity holders of the Company AARE=TEA 53,124 52,437
Non-controlling interests FEERAE 559 563
53,683 53,000
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB cents RMB cents
AR S ARES
Earnings per share attributableto ZAAREZHIFEH ARG
equity holders of the Company BREF
Basic and diluted E V& P 10 10.99 10.93
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

As at 31 December 2023 742023412 A31H

2023 2022
2023% 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR T ARBT T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets (ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WERZE 12 358,053 176,718
Investment property wEYE 13 38,261 40,296
Land lease prepayment T EE A FRIA 15 4,843 5,180
Intangible assets EEE 16 80,541 69,019
Prepayment of acquisition for property, WIEEW% - MELERHE &
plant and equipment and intangible BEAEEMEMNRIE
assets 29,843 88,137
Deposit Eicdca 2,100 2,100
Deferred tax assets BEREFHIBBEE 27 900 760
514,541 382,210
Current assets RBEE
Inventories e 17 19,123 17,333
Trade and other receivables B 5 &k Efth B FKIB 18 209,932 181,543
Financial assets at fair value through R A FEFABEZNESREE
profit or loss 19 830 984
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkREEEY 20 78,631 85,618
308,516 285,478
Current liabilities REEE
Contract liabilities EHAaE 21 1,395 486
Trade and other payables 2 5 I B FE A R IE 22 55,931 48,534
Lease liabilities HERE 23 4,125 3,460
Discounted bills financing AR EBEHE 24 3,690 —
Bank borrowings RITERK 25 84,961 57,500
Other borrowings H &R 26 27,437 24,381
Income tax payable R ET S 13,778 14,557
191,317 148,918
Net current assets ABEEFH 117,199 136,560
Total assets less current liabilities REERTBHESE 631,740 518,770
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R A MR R 3R

As at 31 December 2023 72023412 A31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
it AR TR ARMET T
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 3,389 6,673
Other borrowings H A& 26 29,815 29,122
Bank borrowings RIT A 25 184,500 104,500
Deferred tax liabilities IRAEF I8 B & 27 5,027 5121
222,731 145,416
Net assets EEFRE 409,009 373,354
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRFE
Share capital fi& 2 28 3,949 3,949
Reserves G 29 401,707 366,409
Equity attributable to equity holders of ARG S+ A A BIH RS
the Company 405,656 370,358
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR B = 3,353 2,996
Total equity B 409,009 373,354
The consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 165 were EI5E 1658 M 4R A B 15 TR R 702024 F3F28H &K &
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024 and were EEHE THUATATRAEZESE -
signed on its behalf.
Shen Genlian Xie Zongguo
MRE 3R
Director Director
EE EF
The notes on pages 81 to 165 are an integral part of these FBIEIGSE B M T B L TR G M B RE D
consolidated financial statements. — & n o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12 310 L FE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RAARERAARE
Non-
Share Share Capital Statutory Retained controlling
capital premium* reserve* reserve* profits* Subtotal interests Total
Bx RHEE ERGE EERE" REEH Mt FBRER L5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR®TR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note 29) (Note 29) (Note 29)
(W29 (W29 (W29

As at 1 January 2022 R2022%151R 1 — 43,841 33,312 135,395 212,549 2,433 214,982
Profit and total comprehensive ~ EREFIR 2 AU H

income for the year 2% - - - - 52,437 52,437 563 53,000
Transfer E# - - - 11,358 (11,358) - - -
Capitalisation issue BR{ET 2,990 (2,990) - - - - - -
Issue of new shares LGRS 958 115,948 - - - 116,906 - 116,906
Transaction costs attributable to & /757 (3 /&5

issue of new shares RBMA - (11,534) - - - (11,534) - (11,534)
As at 31 December 2022 and  R2022F12A31AR

1 January 2023 2023%1A1A 3,949 101,424 43,841 44,670 176,474 370,358 2,996 313,354
Profit and total comprehensive ~ EREF R 2EAE

income for the year 2% - - - - 53124 53,124 559 53,683
Transfer E# - - - 4,798 (4,798) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controllng ~ ©RFEZRERE 2

interests — — — — — — (202) (202)
Final dividends paid to equity HE02050A3181F

holders of the Company for the ~ £EERAAREXR

year ended 31 December 2022 HEAXHRE

(Note 11) Wi - - - - (17.826) (17.826) - (17.826)
As at 31 December 2023 2023512315 3,949 101,424 43,841 49,468 206,974 405,656 3,353 409,009

* The reserves accounts comprise the Group’s reserves of
RMB401,707,000 (2022: RMB366,409,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12 310 - FE

2023 2022
2023% 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR®TR AR®FT
Operating activities RETFE
Profit before income tax & AT 15 1% Al & A 63,395 64,442
Adjustments for: TN SBEL AR
Amortisation of intangible assets ML EESE 4,441 3,225
Depreciation e 16,238 12,190
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BMEREE
plant and equipment (M=), BB (29) 82
Reversal of provisions for inventories 77 & # #5 # [@ (91) (377)
Provision of allowance on trade and Z 5K FHIE R ERER
bills receivables, net BEFE 1,544 823
Provision for warranty RERE 6,566 4,579
Interest income F B WA (3,271) (997)
Fair value loss on financial assets at Z A FEFABEZN SR
fair value through profit or loss BEEAFEEBRE 154 1
Unrealised exchange gain, net KREIRE N W= F 58 (1,695) (6,138)
Finance costs B %5 B AR 11,714 10,536
Operating cash flows before working &8 & ¢ # H a1 MK &
capital changes REaRE 98,966 88,366
Increase in inventories FEE M (1,699) (5,053)
Increase in trade and other receivables & 5 & H b jiE Ug 5% 78 12 N (29,933) (28,889)
Increase in trade and other payables & 5 & E fth f& {5 20 18 18 o0 831 4,786
Increase/(Decrease) in contract AHAaBEEM Chd)
liabilities 909 (26)
Decrease in amount due to a related  J& 1< B B 75 FUIE R
party — (20)
Cash generated from operations KEMERE 69,074 59,164
Income tax paid =EiEEE (10,725) (1,568)
Net cash generated from RETHMERSFHE
operating activities 58,349 57,596
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z2023F12 310 L FE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
N3 AR®TR AR®FT
Investing activities REEH
Acquisition of property, plant and WEME  BEERZE

equipment (132,868) (84,009)
Acquisition of intangible assets s EE (15,963) (10,903)
Additions of subsequent expenditures 1% & ¥ ¥ ) B 1% 3 H #9380

on investment property — (1,348)
Interest received 2 U F B 3,271 997
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BERZBE

plant and equipment Ffr 158 3 18 959 339
Purchase of financial assets at fair BERATEFABREZ

value through profit or loss TREE — (985)
Net cash used in investing activities REZ BT HE 2 )F 5 (144,601) (95,909)
Financing activities MEER
Proceeds of bank borrowings RATE R PTS IR 185,000 162,300
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER (77,539) (105,300)
Proceeds of other borrowings HEifERAERE 30,000 —
Repayment of other borrowings EEEMER (29,968) (18,367)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (3,871) (4,840)
Interest paid BEATH B (11,714) (10,536)
Listing expenses paid BEfNEMRAE — (19,624)
Increase/(Decrease) in discounted bills 85 3R Z 4% & & 12 hn ~ CRlL )

financing 3,690 (3,821)
Proceeds from issue of new shares BITH R ETIE B — 116,906
Transaction costs attributable to issue 2% 17 ¥7 J% Tﬁ[’%ﬁx%ﬁk$

of new shares — (11,534)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BT R R

interests (202) —
Dividends paid to equity holders of the Bt ARAQA T H A,

Company (17,826) —
Net cash from financing activities BE B TR 2 FRE 77,570 105,184
Net (decrease)/increase in cash ReRBESEBYWOHD)

and cash equivalents ¥ inF &8 (8,682) 66,871
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRERREERBY

beginning of year 85,618 12,609
Effect of foreign exchange rate [EXREB TR

changes 1,695 6,138
Cash and cash equivalents atend EFRBERESZEEY

of year 20 78,631 85,618
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 1. —REHR

1.1 General information 1.1 —RER

Vanov Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 5 November 2018
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act, Cap.22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and
its headquarter is situated at No.519, Section 2, Xinhua
Avenue, Chengdu Strait Science and Technology Industry
Development Park, Wenjiang District, Chengdu, Sichuan
Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The Company is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the design,
manufacture and sales of papermaking felts.

The Company’s immediate holding company is Perfect
Angle Limited (“Perfect Angle”), a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). The Company’s
ultimate controlling parties are Ms. Shen Genlian and Mr.
Zhou Jun, the spouse of Ms. Shen Genlian (together, the
“Controlling Shareholders”).

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 11 January 2022.

These consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were approved for issue by the
board of directors (the “Board”) on 28 March 2024.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2. EREFHEBRE

2.1 Basis of preparation 2IIMBEE

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”") and the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong. The consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and include the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”).

WESEMBRRVERBREEV B REE
A(EAMBBRSEINDRE - BEYH
BEEAER—EARE ETERETES
AR EFAMAST)BEMNMA
ERENEEM B REER  FEEE
AEAGAENDERE  UAREFE K
ARWEFRA - KREVBERETTAE
BRRGINERRERERBRETER
BRSMAERRREF EMARR (T ETRAD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

il

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXREMBEBE(E)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21MmMBEE(E)

The material accounting policies that have been used in
the preparation of this consolidated financial statements
are summarised below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented unless
otherwise stated. The adoption of new or amended
HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s financial
statements, if any, are disclosed in Note 2.2.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial assets which are stated at fair values.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. Although these estimates are
based on management’s best knowledge and judgment
of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

2.2 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs

New and amended HKFRSs that are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following new and amended HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group’s operations
and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January
2023:

Amendments to HKAS 1  Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules

The adoption of the new and amended HKFRSs had no
material impact on how the results and financial position
for the current and prior periods have been prepared and
presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies”

The amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
material accounting policy information instead of
significant accounting policies in its financial statements.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments also
provide some guidance on how material policy information
are being identified and provide some examples of when
accounting policy information is likely to be material.

In March 2021, HKICPA issued HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” to provide
entities with non-mandatory guidance on how to make
materiality judgements when preparing their general
purpose financial statements in accordance with HKFRS.
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 was subsequently revised
to provide guidance and examples on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are applied by the Group
on 1 January 2023 and are applied prospectively. The
amendments have no impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance but has affected the
accounting policies disclosures as set out in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of
Accounting Estimates”

The amendments clarify how entities should distinguish
changes in accounting policies from changes in
accounting estimates by introducing a definition for
accounting estimates, which is now defined as “monetary
amounts in the financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”.

Besides, the amendments also clarify the relationship
between accounting policies and accounting estimates
by specifying that an entity develops an accounting
estimate to achieve the objective set out by an accounting
policy. Accounting estimates typically involve the use of
judgements or assumptions based on latest available
reliable information. A change in accounting estimate that
results from new information or new development is not
correction of an error. Therefore, the effects of a change
in an input or a measurement technique used to develop
an accounting estimate are changes in accounting
estimates if they do not result from the correction of
prior period errors. In addition, two illustrative examples
are added to illustrate how to apply the new definition of
accounting estimates.

The amendments are applied by the Group on 1 January
2023 and are applied prospectively. The amendments
have no impact on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXREMBEBE(E)

2.2 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs 22HRAFITRBRETERVBHREER

(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, certain amended HKFRSs have
been published but are not yet effective, and have not
been adopted early by the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback!

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5t

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenantst

Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangementst

HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

1  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

2  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

3  Effective date not yet determined

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the
first period beginning on or after the effective date of the
pronouncement. Information on amended HKFRSs that
are expected to have impact on the Group’s accounting
policies is provided below. Other amended HKFRSs are
not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and all its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power over the entity, only
substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from
the date it gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between group companies
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Where unrealised losses on intra-group
asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying
asset is also tested for impairment from the Group’s
perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements
of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to
ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted
by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. ERSHHEME(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Basis of consolidation (Continued) 23GHEE(E)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within equity,
separately from the equity attributable to the owners of
the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the owners of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

In the Company’s statements of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment
loss unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included
in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes
in consideration arising from contingent consideration
amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs
of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable at the end of the reporting period. All
dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements is presented
in RMB, which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

In the individual financial statements of the combined
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency of the individual entity
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the reporting date, monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the reporting
date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised in the profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated (i.e. only translated using the exchange
rate at the transaction date). When a fair value gain or
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual
financial statements of foreign operations, originally
presented in a currency different from the Group’s
presentation currency, have been converted into RMB.
Assets and liabilities have been translated into RMB
at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income and
expenses have been converted into the RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at
the average rates over the reporting period provided
that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly.
Any differences arising from this procedure have
been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in the translation reserve in
equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREHBRBE (4

POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment 259 % BERRME

Property, plant and equipment (other than
construction-in-progress as described below and cost of
right-of-use assets as described in Note 2.13) are initially
recognised at acquisition cost (including any cost directly
attributable to bringing the assets to the location and
condition necessary for them to capable of operating
in the manner intended by the Group’s management),
and subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy (Note 2.18). Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided
to write off the cost less their residual values, if any,
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

Building 20 years or shorter of the
lease term

Leasehold improvements 5 years or shorter of the
lease term

Plant and machinery 5-12 years

Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets
is set out in Note 2.13.

Estimates of residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
the profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are
charged to the profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

2.6 Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see Note 2.13)
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
These include land held for a currently undetermined
future use and property that is being constructed or
developed for future use as investment property.

Such properties are measured initially at cost.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Depreciation is
calculated on the straight-line basis over the expected
useful life and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value. The principal expected useful life for this
purpose are as follows:

Building 20 years

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

il

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREFBRBE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and IEBFEE(TEREHE)IRTRES

research and development activities

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost.
After initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided
on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Amortisation commences when the intangible assets are
available for use. The following useful lives are applied:

Trademarks 10 years

Computer software and 5 years
operation systems

Capitalised development 10 years
costs

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (i.e.
trademarks) are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

The assets’ amortisation methods and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting
date.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives,
are tested for impairment as described below in Note
2.19.

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are expensed
in profit or loss as they occur. Costs that are directly
attributable to development activities are recognised
as intangible assets provided they meet the following
recognition requirements:

— demonstration of technical feasibility of the
prospective product for internal use or sale;

— there is intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

and research and development activities
(Continued)

Research and development costs (Continued)

— the Group’s ability to use or sell the intangible asset
is demonstrated;

— the intangible asset will generate probable economic
benefits through internal use or sale;

— sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

— the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
can be reliably measured.

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on
development activities along with an appropriate portion
of relevant overheads. The costs of development of
internally generated software, products or knowhow
that meet the above recognition criteria are recognised
as intangible assets. They are subject to the same
subsequent measurement method as acquired intangible
assets.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.

2.8 Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all of its
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability
is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,
cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

il

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXEFHEBME(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 28&@MIA(E)
Financial assets THEE
Classification and initial measurement of financial ERHEERSER A E

assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured at
the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15, all
financial assets are initially measured at fair value, in
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL"), plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Financial assets are classified into the following
categories:

— amortised cost;

— FVTPL; or

— fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI").

The classification is determined by both the entity’s
business model for managing the financial asset; and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets
that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within
finance costs, or other income, except for expected
credit losses (“ECL") of trade and bills receivables which
is presented within administrative and other operating
expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as FVTPL):

— they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its
contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in other income
in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect
of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s trade and other
receivables, amounts due from related parties and cash
and cash equivalents fall into this category of financial
instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business
model other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and
sell' are categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective of
business model, financial assets whose contractual cash
flows are not solely payments of principal and interest
are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial
instruments fall into this category, except for those
designated and effective as hedging instruments, for
which the hedge accounting requirements under HKFRS

9 apply.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

il

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXRETHEME(E)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 28&@MIA(E)
Financial liabilities THEE
Classification and measurement of financial THEENSERE
liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include bank borrowings, AEESHEERERITER  HMER -
other borrowing, lease liabilities, trade and other payables HEBE BI9REMENHERIUEE
and discounted bills financing. BrE o
Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially TREE(HEAGRIN MNP AFEFSE
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted EUnBERMZSKR AR ETHE

for transaction costs.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease Bk 2REEMHEEEBERINERER
liabilities) are measured at amortised cost using the P X REHEA ARG ZE -
effective interest method.

All interest-related charges are included within finance FrEMEMRBEEREFAMBERA -

costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note HEABNEHEEREHEAMF213 -

2.13.

Borrowings & =%

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of BRIV EAFENREENT HKANER -
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently G E B IR A AP B fERETS A (F0
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the BRREGKA)HEIBEEEEB BT RERIZ
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption ERMNEZRERPAAREBERFER -

value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the RIEAEEEEKEREMNNKAGBHEERD
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of REEZEHRERBHRED T @A - T A
the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting BERDEARRBEE -

date.

Other financial liabilities HEttz@ A&

Other financial liabilities are recognised initially at their EfemABYSRAQATERR EE
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, HAERMNERREHEKATE -

using the effective interest method.
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e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9’s impairment requirements use forward-looking
information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”.
Instruments within the scope included loans and other
debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost
and trade receivables recognised and measured under
HKFRS 15.

The Group considers a broader range of information when
assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past
events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable
forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the
future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is
made between:

— financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition
or that have low credit risk (“Stage 1") and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition
and whose credit risk is not low (“Stage 2").

“Stage 3” would cover financial assets that have objective
evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category
while “lifetime ECL” are recognised for the Stage 2
category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the
expected life of the financial instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

i

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREFBRBE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

29ERMEERMME(E)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL and recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date.
These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash
flows, considering the potential for default at any point
during the life of the financial assets. In calculating the
ECL, the Group has established a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings and/or individually assessed for
debtors with significant balances, that is based on its
historical credit loss experience and external indicators,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due.

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood of risk of
default occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial assets at
the reporting date with the risk of default occurring on
the financial assets at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory,
business, financial, economic conditions or
technology environment that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations; and

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the end of each
reporting period. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, the borrower
has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

il

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXEFHEBME(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

20 & MEERME(E)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost (Continued)

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when (i) information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group); (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past
due.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade
receivables and other financial assets measured at
amortised cost are set out in Note 36.5.

210 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost, which comprises all cost of
purchase and, where applicable, other costs that have
been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition, and is determined by using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated cost of completion and applicable
selling expenses.

211 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in
hand, demand deposits with banks and short term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12

2.13

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see Note 2.16). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see Note 2.8).

Lease

Definition of a lease

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether
a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as
‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right
to use an identified asset (the underlying asset) for a
period of time in exchange for consideration’. To apply
this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract
meets three key evaluations which are whether:

— the contracts contains an identified asset, which is
either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly
specified by being identified at the time the asset is
made available to the Group;

— the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights
within the defined scope of the contract; and

— the Group has the right to direct the use of the
identified asset throughout the period of use. The
Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how
and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout
the period of use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. ERSHHEME(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

213 Lease (Continued) 23 HE(E)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated
statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset
is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial
measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct
costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end
of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance
of the lease commencement date (net of any lease
incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use asset on a
straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to
the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use
assets or the end of the lease term unless the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership at the end of the
lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use
asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability at the present value of the lease payments
unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable payments based on an index or rate,
and amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be
reduced for lease payments made and increased for
interest cost on the lease liability. It is remeasured to
reflect any reassessment or lease modification, or if there
are changes in in-substance fixed payments.
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e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. ERSHHEME(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

213 Lease (Continued) 23 HE(E)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee (Continued)

For lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of modification. The
only exception is any rent concessions which arose
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and which satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph
46B of HKFRS 16 “Leases”. In such cases, the Group
took advantage of the practical expedient set out in
paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and recognised the change
in consideration as if it were not a lease modification.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit
and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to
zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases
using the practical expedients. Instead of recognising
a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in
relation to these leases are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12
month or less.

Right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of
investment property have been included in property,
plant and equipment. The prepaid lease payments for
leasehold land are presented as “land lease prepayment”
under non-current assets.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

213 Lease (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessor

As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either
operating or finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the underlying asset, and classified as an
operating lease if it does not.

The Group also earns rental income from operating
leases of its investment properties. Rental income is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease.

For a transfer that does not satisfy requirements as a
sale in accordance with HKFRS 15, the transaction is
in substance a financing arrangement under HKFRS 9.
Therefore, the Group as a seller-lessee accounts for the
proceeds received as “other borrowings” within the scope
of HKFRS 9.

214 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXREMBEBEE

D]]ﬁ

214 Provisions and contingent liabilities QL BERIREE(E)

(Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain events
not wholly within the control of the Group, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

2.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital
is recognised at the amount of consideration of shares
issued, after deducting any transaction costs associated
with the issuing of shares (net of any related income tax
benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs directly
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attributable to the equity transaction.

216 Revenue recognition 216 =B

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised Wa D ERAANGRAREFPEED &#HE®D
goods and services to customers in an amount that k% H® %ﬁliﬂgil"‘il?ﬁﬁﬂﬁ‘fxi Z
reflect the consideration to which the Group expects to EEmM RS MARESHRE - =
be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. REEF A L # ﬂ”ﬂlﬁnﬁﬁw o
Specially, the Group uses a 5-step approach for revenue

recognition.

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer F1H FHAEEFHNE L

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the F24 BRI ENFHREAOEE
contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price FE3X EEX5E

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the Fax HENTROEEIERSE
performance obligations in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity F54 () BEBEKRBEHNRETRFE
satisfies a performance obligation R =
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

Control of the goods or services may be transferred over
time or at a point in time. Control of the goods or services
is transferred over time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the entity’s performance as
the Group performs;

— the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that customer controls as the Group performs;
or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress toward complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or services.

Revenue from sales of papermaking felts products are
recognised at a point in time when the legal title of the
finished good is transferred and the Group has present
right to payment and the collection of the consideration
is probable. This is usually taken as the time when the
goods are delivered and the customer has accepted the
goods.

Sales-related warranties associated with papermaking
felts cannot be purchased separately and are served
as an assurance that the products sold comply with
agreed-upon specifications (i.e. assurance-type
warranties). Accordingly, the Group accounts for
warranties in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”.
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e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREFBRBE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

216 Revenue recognition (Continued) 216 W R (E)

Rental income from letting the Group’s investment
property is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis
using the effective interest rate method.

217 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions. Government grants are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to
match them with the costs that the grants are intended to
compensate. Government grants relating to the purchase
of assets are deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of
reduced depreciation expense.

Government grants relating to income is presented in
gross under “Other income” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

218 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income
earned on the temporary investment of the specific
borrowings, for the acquisition, construction or production
of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period
of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset
for its intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are
expensed when incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are being undertaken. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are complete.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXREMBEBE(E)

219 Impairment of non-financial assets Q0 FEREERME

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets), investment property, intangible assets, land
lease prepayment and investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statements of financial position are subject to
impairment testing. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives and that are not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, irrespective of whether there
is any indication that they are impaired. Others are tested
for impairment whenever there are indications that the
asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market
conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of
time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
from those other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generate
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit
level.

Impairment loss is charged pro rata to the assets in the
cash generating unit, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less cost of disposal, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. EXREMBEBE(E)

2.20 Employee benefits LNEERER

Retirement benefits

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC based employees of the Group participate in
various defined contributions retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the PRC under which the Group and the
PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage of
the employees’ salaries, subject to a certain ceiling.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assure the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC based employees payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement and other post-retirement benefits
of its employees. The assets of these plans are held
separately from those of the Group in independently
administrated funds managed by the PRC government.

The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

==

i\\
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREHBRBE (4

POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Accounting for income taxes WA BB EstREE

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the
fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable
profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense
in the profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and their respective tax
bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as
other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax
credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from initial recognition
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREFBRBE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Accounting for income taxes (Continued) WIFBHBETEE(E)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
the requirements in HKAS 12 to the lease liabilities and
the related assets separately. The Group recognises
a deferred tax asset related to the lease liabilities to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for
all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability
is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are
recognised in the profit or loss, or in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity if they relate to items that are
charged or credited to other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented
in net if, and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

2.22 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial
statements, a party is considered to be related to the
Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over of the Group;
(if) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group.

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRME

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii)a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a company of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

2.23 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM?”) for their decisions about
resources allocation to the Group’s business components
and for their review of the performance of those
components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 3. BRET TR HE
JUDGMENTS

3.1 Sources of estimation uncertainty B1IEFTHBREZNRIR

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

Warranty provision

The Group provides warranty to certain customers. The
provision for warranty is estimated based on expected
warranty work to be performed for goods under the
warranty period and labor charges expected to be
incurred. As historical maintenance and service record
may not resemble the future maintenance and service
of the products sold, differences between the actual
amount and the estimated amount of this provision may
affect future profit or loss. The carrying amount of the
Group’s warranty provision at the end of each reporting
period is set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Estimation of impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to determine
when a receivable is impaired. In making this estimation
and judgment, the Group evaluate, among other
factors, the ageing analysis of receivables, the financial
healthiness and collection history of the individual
debtors and expected future change of credit risks,
including the consideration of factors such as general
economy measure, existing market conditions and change
in macro-economic indicators, etc at the end of each
reporting period as set out in Note 36.5.

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other
receivables as at 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately RMB207,615,000 (2022: RMB181,894,000)
and ECL allowance amounted to approximately
RMB5,436,000 (2022: RMB4,312,000). Details of the
trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

3. B eI RHE(E)

3.1 Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) B1MAFTHBAEZNHRIR(E)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment,
investment property and intangible assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation for
its property, plant and equipment, investment property
and intangible assets. The estimates are based on the
historical experience of the actual economic lives of
property, plant and equipment, investment property and
intangible assets of similar nature and functions. Actual
economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Management will adjust the depreciation and amortisation
where the useful lives are estimated to be different from
the previous estimates. Periodic reviews could result in
a change in useful lives and therefore depreciation and
amortisation expense in future periods. The carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment, investment
property and intangible assets at the end of each
reporting period is set out in Notes 12, 13 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Provision for inventories

The Group reviews the carrying amount of inventories
based on consideration of obsolescence of raw materials
and the net realisable value of finished goods. The
identification of inventory obsolescence and estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business require the
use of judgment and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying amount of inventories in the period
in which such estimate has been changed. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, reversal for inventories of
RMB91,000 (2022: reversal inventories of RMB377,000)
was recognised. The carrying amount of inventories is set
out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 3. HREE T RAE(E)

JUDGMENTS (Continued)

3.2 Critical accounting judgments 32ERETTHE

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following accounting
judgments:

Current income tax

The Group is subject to Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) in
the PRC. Significant judgment is required in determining
the provision for EIT. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that we initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current income tax and deferred tax
provision in the period in which such determination is
made.

Research and development activities

Careful judgment by the Company’s management
is applied when deciding whether the recognition
requirements for development costs have been met.
This is necessary as the economic success of any
product development is uncertain and may be subject
to future technical problems at the time of recognition.
Judgments are based on the best information available at
the end of each reporting period. In addition, all internal
activities related to the research and development of new
products or know how are continuously monitored by the
Company’s management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4. Wz Ko EB 2|
4.1 Revenue 4.1 W&

AEBEYFERERNRT  HERHEE -

The Group was engaged in the design, manufacture and

sales of papermaking felts. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue by products during the year is as follows:

Recognised at a point in time:

AT RAKREFRNIRE®RE DO WE DT

B — 18] 5 [ 2 78 &% -

2023 2022

2023%F 2022%F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®TT

Packaging papermaking felts BERBERER 148,317 151,700
Specialty papermaking felts FRARERTER 41,521 26,934
Printing papermaking felts Ef Jill & 4% & Bt 19,608 14,244
Household papermaking felts ERMEAE# 12,030 12,591
Pulp papermaking felts RS E 15,894 12,287
237,370 217,756

Remaining performance obligations

The following table includes revenue expected to
be recognised in the future related to performance
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) is
as follows:

FItr /B E (T

TR 85 7 0 o R 3R R B AT (o

DEITNEHNEEN Y E

2023 2022

2023% 20224

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR T ARBET T

Within one year —F R 20,985 15,264
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4. WHERIDB2H(E)
(Continued)
4.2 Segment information 4290 HER

Information reported to the CODM (i.e. the board of
directors) for the purpose of resources allocation and
performance assessment focuses on the operating
results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s resources
are integrated and no discrete financial information is
available.

No segment of assets and liabilities are presented as no
discrete financial information is available.

Geographical information

The following table sets out information on the
geographical locations of the Group’s revenue determined
based on geographical region of the customers.

HRAEENEREDESG BN EE@E
VYHBER  MHERIELRRFEM
MEELERRENEZTS)BRENEHR
ETPRASEEBNELEES -

HRYEBYPBER  WTE2INEER

BESE -

Hh FE )

TRIFINAKERBEFLBRETREN
IR EE R

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR T ARMET T

The PRC i 227,322 203,125
Overseas NN 10,048 14,631
237,370 217,756

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all of the non-current
assets of the Group were located in the PRC.

Information about major customers

Since none of the Group’s sales to a single customer
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
information about major customers in accordance with
HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

5. OTHER INCOME 5. Htlg A
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®TT
Bank interest income AT F B A 3,271 997
Sales of scrap materials 6 B R 1,865 2,133
Government subsidies (note) IR 8 Bh (H7 32 ) 2,893 5,813
Rental income from investment property HEMEMGHES WA 2,332 1,924
Exchange gains, net PE 5, Ui 2= )5 B8 1,540 8,804
Gains on disposal of property, plant and LHEWE BMELRZEKS
equipment 29 —
Sundry income MIFW A 1,570 431
13,500 20,102
Note:  The amount represents unconditional government subsidies Biat:  EARIBEWEM T RTEE AW R RAE R
received from the local government authorities for the SREZEMMG THEKGRTHR -
purpose of research and development and supporting its
operation.
6. FINANCE COSTS 6. M A
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®B TR ARBTTT
Interest expenses on: AT &EEHMNEFRXE:
Discounted bills financing N 87 30
Bank borrowings RITRE R 12,247 6,646
Other borrowings H A& 3,138 3,790
Lease liabilities HEBE 458 70
Total borrowing costs RN CEE 15,930 10,536
Less: o
Amounts capitalised in the cost of REEBREEXAERN LN SR
qualifying assets (4,216) —
11,714 10,536
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group H E2023F12A31RLFE - AEERES
borrowed bank loans which are made specifically for the AEREE(NEEREIRE THEE R#
purpose of obtaining the qualifying assets, which represented BIMBEMEARITER - At BREE
the plant and machinery under construction-in-progress. REERETERNNERSENER L
Thus, the disclosure of capitalisation rate used to determine KB BELTER -
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is not
applicable.
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7. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 7. BRFR18 B A& A
Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRETEBADSE R RN GIA)UTEEBERE
E:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T ARBF T
Employee benefit expenses EERMNAX(BREEZFHM) :
(including directors’ remuneration):
— Salaries, wages and other benefits — e IENRHEMEAR 33,897 31,808
— Contributions to defined contribution — REHRREEIHR
plans 7,346 5,942
41,243 37,750
Depreciation: e
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEREE
— owned assets — BBREE 8,598 8,095
— right-of-use assets — FRHEEE 5,268 1,753
Investment property "EME 2,035 2,004
Land lease prepayment T ERNRIA 337 338
Total depreciation mEBE 16,238 12,190
Amortisation of intangible assets EEE#HE 4,441 3,225
Cost of inventories recognised ERARAINFERA -
as expenses, including: B 65,183 58,820
— Reversal of provisions for inventories — FERERE (91) (377)
Auditor’s remuneration ¥ 25 Bl Bl & 1,160 1,200
Exchange gains, net e H W& F R (1,540) (8,804)
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, EEWE BMERZHKZE
plant and equipment (E18) (29) 82
Research and development costs BT 2 B AN 8,743 8,165
Lease charges on short term leases EHENEEER 88 510
Provision of ECL allowance on trade and H 5N RIE & R % EBE
bills receivables, net BEEBEREGFE 1,544 823
Provision for warranty RE S 6,566 4,579
Listing expenses WX — 6,350
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there B 220234 K2022F12A318 IEF E -
were no contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of REYGBRAKERLTENEEMS &%
its employees who left the plan prior to vesting fully in such EHERZEREELSRERAEBAENR  TEH
contribution, nor had there been any utilisation of such FA 7B B8 08 YA 30A B R R SR 3R o 7R2023F &
forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. As at 20224512 A31H - #f M % Yo £t 3k ] AN & [
31 December 2023 and 2022, no forfeited contributions were FA LA B AR 3R B 4 FROKE o

available for utilisation by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contribution.
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8.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

8. iIEHAX

2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ART T ARBEF T

Current tax EHHE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FEIPERER 7,961 8,642
PRC withholding tax on dividends ThA B A ) R B TE B 1,985 —
9,946 8,642

Deferred tax EE B A
Current year (Note 27) NEE (K 5£27) (234) 2,800
Income tax expense FrS iR 9,712 11,442

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands,
the Company is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group had no
assessable profits subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax during
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

Under the Law (the “EIT Law”) of the PRC on Enterprise
Income Tax (“EIT”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, PRC EIT is calculated at 25% of the assessable profits
for subsidiary established in the PRC.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, a
subsidiary of the Group, Sichuan Huanlong Technology Fabric
Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Huanlong”), is qualified as a company
under the development strategy of the PRC’s western region
to enjoy a preferential income tax rate of 15% from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2030, therefore it is entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

The Company’s subsidiary, Shanghai Jinxiong Paper Making
Net Carpet Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Jinxiong”) was accredited
as High and New Technology Enterprise by the relevant
authorities in Shanghai for a term of three years which will
be expired in November 2026, therefore it is entitled to a
preferential tax rate of 15% for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.
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8.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 8.

In addition, both Sichuan Huanlong and Shanghai Jinxiong
are eligible for tax deduction up to 200% (2022: 200%) and
200% (2022: 200%) of approved research and development
costs incurred for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 respectively.

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting
profit at applicable tax rate:

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

FrEHmx (&)

BEsh - IR BE R 8 S RS B R E 22023
F K2022F12A318 |FF & E 4 A% AT K
KigH B EAH K E200% (20224 : 200%) 1
200% (20224 : 200%) # F Uk % o

P19 4 B9 %2 B8 420 R B4 S 360 B B R R
mF

2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TT
Profit before income tax & BT 18 7 Al v A 63,395 64,442
Tax at the PRC EIT tax rate of 25% o 1 2 T 1S BB R 25% /9 B 18
(2022: 25%) (20224 : 25%) 15,849 16,111
Tax effects of non-deductible expenses TAIHBRAZHR G &
(note) (Hiaz) 2,233 1,403
Utilisation of temporary differences FALARERNEREEZR
previously not recognised (268) 821
Additional deduction for research and LA 2 X B ANOR
development expenses (3,172) (2,655)
PRC dividend withholding tax (Note 27) PR S IERE (HaE27) 903 1,960
Effect of income taxed at concessionary rate REEH KA ENFEH T E (5,833) (6,198)
Income tax expense FTiS A X 9,712 11,442
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9. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE 0. EEMEREARBEESHFMAL

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

9.1 Directors’ emoluments Q1IEEM &

Year ended 31 December 2023
B E2023F12A31ALLEE

Salaries,

Contributions

allowances to retirement
Directors' and benefits Discretionary benefit
fees in kind bonus schemes Total
g RAKER
EEHe ZRRENEAN Sk BE k3 @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR¥TR
Executive directors: BTES:
Mr. Zhou Jun (note (a)) B 8% 5 £ (W it (a)) — 800 — — 800
Ms. Shen Genlian ERE LT — 88 — 4 92
Mr. Xie Zongguo HRELE — 700 480 69 1,249
Ms. Yuan Aomei B L — 239 60 56 355
Independent non-executive BYEHTES:
directors:
Mr. Ip Wang Hoi ERELE 120 — — — 120
Mr. Zhang Shenjin RESLE 120 — — — 120
Mr. Wang Yunchen TERELE 120 — — — 120
360 1,827 540 129 2,856
Year ended 31 December 2022
HZ2022F12A318 EFE
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement
Directors' and benefits ~ Discretionary benefit
fees in kind bonus schemes Total
e RNEF
EERE EHREMREN ML IR @i
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARBT ARETT
Executive directors: BTES:
Mr. Zhou Jun (note (a)) B 58 S (0 i (a) — 800 — — 800
Ms. Shen Genlian MIEER T — — — — —
Mr. Xie Zongguo HRELE — 700 400 63 1,163
Ms. Yuan Aomei REELL — 240 47 47 334
Independent non-executive BYEHTES:
directors:
Mr. Ip Wang Hoi ERELE 117 — — — 117
Mr. Zhang Shenjin RESLE 117 — — — 117
Mr. Wang Yunchen TEREE 117 — — — 117
351 1,740 447 110 2,648
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9. DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

9.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(@ Mr. Zhou Jun is also the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. His emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him in the capacity of the Chief
Executive Officer.

Bonus are discretionary and are based on the performance of
the Group.

9.2 Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
include two (2022: two) directors whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 9.1. The aggregate emoluments of the
remaining three (2022: three) individuals for the year are

AR M RRME

0. EEMEREREESFMAL(E)

QDJIEEME (E)

(@) FARELETA/ARBITHRAR - HM0LESH
BN RBRECTBAREMEHROR

EABRBEEEARBEAREENRRMER

92HEBREHFMAL

B E2023F12A3B L FE AEEBRA
BT MATRERAQ2F - MAB)E
=CEMERWHIIEE - FR EH=%
(2022F =Z)ATHMES AT :

as follows:
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBET T
Basic salaries, housing allowances, EXFHae  FEFR - HbERL
other allowances and benefits in kind & & % 1& 7 2,582 2,725
Contributions to retirement benefit B RAR F &8 43
schemes 178 155
2,760 2,880

The above individuals’ emoluments are within the
following bands:

ERALTHHEBRATHE:

2023 2022

20234 20224

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 71,000,000 7T 2 1
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T £1,500,0003 7T 1

No director or the five highest paid individuals received
any emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
nil). No director or the five highest paid individuals has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

H E2023F12A31IHIEFE EEX AL ®
= 3 B A 88 4 ) A R B IR AR (AT B 6 (2022
FoE) EABRSIEMASIRMARER
B ENERBBAEE - 8 £2023F
PRAMBIEFE EEXnEEHHA
T E R E SRR E R E T A B € (20224 ¢
;) -
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e M HRRME

10.EARNINGS PER SHARE 10.8RER
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to KRR EFBEABREERELRBFDBRET
equity holders of the Company is based on the following: XETSIETES T
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Earnings EZF
Profit for the year attributable to equity AR FTEAEBEERE T
holders of the Company (in RMB'000) (AR®BFT) 53,124 52,437
Weighted average number of ordinary BETESRELAZNHLR
shares for the purpose of calculating basic A% ji # ¥ 5 £
earnings per share 483,442,000 479,632,581
Earnings per share (in RMB cents) BREMNARE ) 10.99 10.93
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the total shares of the 20234 K20224F12A318 * A A A #) B & 17
Company in issue were 483,442,000 ordinary shares. f% 17 48 28 483,442,000 % 3@ X -
Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per MR & £22023F K2022F12A318 Lt FE &
share for years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 as there EETHETEEEBAR ALZEFED
were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue during the @ ERFETRERRDF —5 -
years.
11. DIVIDENDS 11. R 2
111 Dividends attributable to the year NWIEXRFERE
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBF T
Proposed final dividend of 4 HK cents BRaAAREERE AR
(2022: 4 HK cents) per ordinary share 4751l (20224 : 475 1L) 17,559 17,826
The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting RS ER A R & BN R AR 2 R R IR
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end FHERERRRBE BEAGRERE
of the reporting period and is subject to approval by the EREBFRGHE  FAEE -
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.
11.2 Dividends attributable to the previous WBRLE-—BBEE ITRFXFERER
financial year, approved and paid during the AT 2 I’ B
year
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB T AR®TT
Final dividend in respect of the financial FLE E2022F12 8318 1
year ended 31 December 2022, of 4 HK B B 2R 3 R AR
cents (2021: nil) per ordinary share g B8R im R4E AL
(20214 : %) 17,826 —
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12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12.M¥% - -BRERRKE
Leasehold Plantand  Furniture and Motor  Construction
Buildings improvements machinery fixtures vehicles in progress Total
GER
B AE%E  EERES EF: 3 RE HBIE at

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTz  ARBTn  ARETR  ARWTR

Cost A

As at 1 January 2022 #2020F151A 37,313 1,876 88,269 3,721 1,213 38,967 171,365
Additions AE 8,804 601 478 156 - 79,757 89,796
Modification E3S 4831 - - - - - 4831
Transfer to investment property ENRENZ - - 3,833 13 - (3,846) -
Disposals/Written-off HE /i - - (2,219) (103) @ - (2,326)
As at 31 December 2022 720225124318 50,948 2411 90,361 3,793 1,209 114,878 263,666
As at 1 January 2023 #2023%1A1A 50,948 2411 90,361 3,793 1,209 114,878 263,666
Additions RE 1,252 907 176 195 - 193,601 196,131
Transfers g% - - 53,715 423 - (54,138) -
Disposals/Written-off e/ M - (262 (L520) (59) - - (1.840)
As at 31 December 2023 R2023812A31R 52,200 3122 142,732 4,353 1,209 254,341 457,957
Accumulated depreciation ZHHE

As at 1 January 2022 #2020F151A 23,220 872 51,740 2,624 549 — 79,005
Charge for the year ERTH 3133 329 5,949 310 127 - 9,848
Written back on disposalsfwritten-off e/ WEnEE - - (1812) (90) @) - (1,905)
As at 31 December 2022 #2020F12 4318 26,353 1,201 55,877 2,844 673 - 86,948
As at 1 January 2023 72023F1A1H 26,353 1,201 55,877 2,844 673 — 86,948
Charge for the year ERF L 6,648 318 6,404 3 125 - 13,866
Written back on disposalsfwritten-off HE/MEniE - - (859) (51) - - (910)
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%12831A8 33,001 1,519 61,422 3,164 798 - 99,904
Net book amount RERE

As at 31 December 2022 20224127318 24,595 1,276 34,484 949 536 114,878 176,718
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%12831A8 19,199 1,603 81,310 1,189 411 254,341 358,063
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12.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’'s property, plant
and equipment with aggregate net book amount of
RMB99,642,000 (2022: RMB128,884,000), including
construction in progress and plant and equipment amounting
RMB74,204,000 (2022: RMB98,826,000) and RMB45,828,000
(2022: nil), respectively, were pledged to secure the bank and
other borrowings granted to the Group (Note 35).

Included in the net carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment is right-of-use assets as follows:

Buildings BgF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

12.M% - BERRE(E)

R2023F12A31H  AE B RLEEFE AR
#99,642,0007T (20224F : A R %128,884,000
TOHME BMERZE BREINBARE
74,204,0007T (20224 : A R #98,826,0007T) &
A R #45,828,00070 (2022F : )W £ E T 12
UEBERZE BETFRBUNESE FAER
B8R 17 B H b 18 3k (M9 5E35) ©

AADE BMEAEENEEEFIEANER
BEEWT:

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARMET T
9,218 13,234

The above right-of-use assets is depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful life or lease term as follows:

Buildings 5% or shorter of the lease term

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total
additions, modification adjustment and depreciation charge to
right-of-use assets included in property, plant and equipment
amounting to RMB1,252,000 (2022: RMB8,804,000),
Nil (2022: RMB4,831,000) and RMB5,268,000 (2022:
RMB1,753,000), respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

13.INVESTMENT PROPERTY 13. R EWME
RMB’000
AR® T

Cost A

At 1 January 2022 2022414818 41,443

Additions — subsequent expenditures RE — HiEEZW 1,348

At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and A2022F12A31H - 2023F1A1H K

31 December 2023 2023%12A31H 42,791

Accumulated depreciation Rt &

At 1 January 2022 R20224%1818 491

Charge for the year FAZH 2,004

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 72022412 A31H & 202341H1H 2,495

Charge for the year FAZH 2,035

At 31 December 2023 A2023F12A31H 4,530

Net book amount R EOF E

At 31 December 2022 R 2022412 A31H 40,296

At 31 December 2023 72023412 A31H 38,261

Details the Group’s investment property and information about RBEHR AEBENERENERBEALATE

the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period EREMOFBOT - UTSFERDIERGA

are as follows. The levels are based on the observability and BEEFTERILGEELREETEKXNE D :
significance of inputs to the measurements, as follows:

« Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for e F—H:-HAREERBELERMSEREH
identical assets and liabilities. BHWE -

« Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within e FA -BRE—RBENREIN  ATEENL
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, MEBENEEXAEH AE B &Y
either directly or indirectly, and not using significant REBRTNAIBERNEAME -
unobservable inputs.

« Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset or e F=W EARTUBEMNEEXBEHAE -

liability.
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13.INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

Recurring fair value measurement KREMNATLZEIE
— Factory building in the PRC — RAENEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

13.REME(E)

As at 31 December 2023

#A2023%12831H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—® EZR F=ZR #at

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®BTR AR¥® TR AR TR

— — 42,000 42,000

Recurring fair value measurement REEATEFE
— Factory building in the PRC — R E# R E

As at 31 December 2022

2022412 A31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
o B E=H 5t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTIT ARBTT

— — 42,000 42,000

The Group’s investment property was revalued at 31
December 2023 and 2022 by an independent professional
qualified valuer. The Group’s management has discussion
with the valuer on the valuation assumptions when the
valuation is performed at the end of reporting period.

The fair value of the factory building in the PRC is estimated
using an income approach which capitalises the estimated
rental income stream, net of projected operating costs, using
a discount rate derived from market yields implied by recent
transactions in similar properties. When actual rent differs
materially from the estimated rents, adjustments have been
made to the estimated rental value. The estimated rental
stream takes into account current occupancy level, estimates
of future vacancy level, the terms of leases and expectations
for rentals from future leases over the remaining economic
life of the properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

14.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 4. AKMBARMNER

As at the date of this report, the Company had direct RAHZEBH  XARRUTHBRAAES &

and indirect interest in the following subsidiaries and the

particulars of which are set out below:

Company name

Kind of legal entity

EREEEE

Place of Registered/
incorporation Issued and
and operation paid up capital
ERALE  EBER/BRAR

As at 31 December

AHEBEHENWT

Principal activities

AIER EREREE BEwY HREX 125318 IEEH
2023 2022

023%  A02%
Directly held:
=532
Lion Courage Enterprises Limited Limited liability company The BVI USD100 100% 100%  Investment holding
Lion Courage Enterprises Limited BREFAA EBRAEE 100% 7T HEER
Virtuous Way Limited Limited liability company The BVI USD100 100% 100%  Investment holding
BERERAT EREfAR ABRRES 10057 REZR
Indirectly held:
HERE:
Vanov Tianhe International Holdings Limited Limited liability company Hong Kong HKD10,000 100% 100%  Sales of papermaking felts
REANERZRAERAA BREEAT 3% 10000% ERERNHE

Chengdu Huanlong Funeng Technology Co., Ltd.  Limited liability company, registered as a wholly ~ The PRC
foreign owned enterprise under PRC law
RARER LR HARRA EREALAA REPRAEIMANEEEL TH
ES
Limited liability company, registered as a foreign-  The PRC
invested enterprise and domestic joint venture
under PRC law

RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
AR%1,000,0007T REARR

Chengdu Huanlong Lixin Technology Co., Ltd. RMBL,000,000 99% 99%  Investment holding

RBRELMMRBRAA EREERT REPEZREMANEREAL +H AK%1,0000007 RERK
(RERAELE

Marvel Dragon Development Limited Limited liability company Hong Kong HKD100 100% 100%  Investment Holding

EEERERLA EREEAA 3% 100%7 REAR

Sichuan Huanlong Technology Fabric Co., Ltd.  Limited liability company, registered as a sino- ~ The PRC RMB40,650,000 99% 99%  Manufacturing and sales of

foreign joint venture enterprise under PRC law papermaking felts
BRERTENERAT BREARA REPRAZIMATNEEL TEH A E40,650,0007 ERERNRERHE
ES
Shanghai Jinxiong Paper Making Net Carpet Limited liability company, registered as a sino- ~ The PRC RMB47,550,000 99% 99%  Manufacturing and sales of
Co,, Ltd foreign joint venture enterprise under PRC law papermaking felts
LESRESBUBRAA BREARA REPRAZIMATNEEL TEH AEH47550,0007 ERERNRERHE
ES
*  The translation of name in English is for identification purposes * ORNEREHRHER -

only.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the RBEHR MEMNBRAREBITEANGEHK S
end of the reporting period. % o
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e M HRRME

15.LAND LEASE PREPAYMENT

15. A E A RE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTT
The Group’s land lease prepayments comprise: REBM T HHEE B K
18 B 4E
The PRC, held on: FE LT ENEE:
— Leases of between 10 to 50 years — 10E50F W &Y 4,843 5,180
The movements in their net carrying amounts are analysed as HEMFELZLS MM T:
follows:
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR T AR®TT
At the beginning of the year F9) 5,180 5,518
Depreciation e (337) (338)
At the end of the year FR 4,843 5,180

The leasehold land is situated in the PRC and held under
medium lease. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s land
lease prepayment with a carrying amount of RMB4,843,000
(2022: RMB5,180,000) were pledged to a bank to secure bank
borrowings granted to the Group (Note 35).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

16.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. B EE

Computer
software and Capitalised
operation  development  Construction
Trademarks systems costs in progress Total
ERBAR
BE EE2AS ERLHEHRL ERIR @5t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR
Cost &
As at 1 January 2022 12022 171H 32,454 910 26,900 5,671 65,935
Additions hE 180 — - 102 282
Additions from internal developments NBRERE — — - 10,621 10,621
Transfer HE - - 10,045 (10,045) —
As at 31 December 2022 12022512 A31A 32,634 910 36,945 6,349 76,838
As at 1 January 2023 72023F1A1A 32,634 910 36,945 6,349 76,838
Additions BE — 3,506 — 190 3,696
Additions from internal developments NBFRERE - - — 12,267 12,267
Transfer Ed - - 1,111 (11,111) -
As at 31 December 2023 12023512 A31A 32,634 4,416 48,056 7,695 92,801
Accumulated amortisation R8s
As at 1 January 2022 12022F1A1H - 145 4,449 - 4,594
Charge for the year FAX M 3 88 3134 — 3,225
As at 31 December 2022 12022512 F31A 3 233 7,583 - 7,819
As at 1 January 2023 120231418 3 233 7,583 — 7,819
Charge for the year FAXM 18 379 4,044 — 4,441
As at 31 December 2023 #2023%12 4318 21 612 11,627 — 12,260
Net book amount REFE
As at 31 December 2022 202212 A31H 32,631 677 29,362 6,349 69,019
As at 31 December 2023 #2023%12A31A 32,613 3,804 36,429 7,695 80,541
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16.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Intangible assets mainly represent:

(1) the trademarks with carrying amounts of RMB32,454,000
(2022: RMB32,454,000) were regarded as having
indefinite useful lives because in opinion of the directors
of the Group, they are capable of being renewed
indefinitely at insignificant cost;

(2) the trademark with carrying amount of RMB159,000
(2022: RMB177,000) was regarded as having definite
estimated useful live of 10 years;

(3) computer software and operation systems were acquired
from third parties or through internal development; and

(4) capitalised development costs generated through internal
research and developments and capitalised technical
know-hows by the Group.

The Group assesses the useful lives capitalised developments
costs by considering the economic life cycles, continuous
technological advancement of the patents, the experience on
previous products of the Group and contractual legal rights
of the patents, it is concluded that the useful lives of these
patents are 10 years.

The amortisation charge for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 is included in “Administrative and other
operating expenses” in the profit or loss.

Impairment testing

The trademarks with indefinite useful lives and the intangible
assets that under construction in progress which not
yet available for use have been allocated to the relevant
cash-generating units (the “CGU”) which is the same for
impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on value in use calculations, covering a detailed
five-year budget plan, followed by an extrapolation of
expected cash flows at the average growth rates of 4% (2022:
4%).
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16. L& &E (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment testing (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the discount rates applied to the
cash flow projections were 14.5% (2022: 14.6%). The key
assumptions for the Group have been determined by the
Group’s management based on past performance and its
expectations for the industry development. The discount rates
used are pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the
segment.

Based on the above key assumptions, as at 31 December
2023 the recoverable amount would exceed the carrying
amounts of the CGU by not less than approximately RMB80.9
million (2022: RMB42.9 million). If the growth rate decreased
by 1%, the recoverable amount of the relevant CGU would
be dropped by approximately RMB8.1 million (2022: RMB5.3
million) as at 31 December 2023. If the discount rate (pre-tax)
increased by 1%, the recoverable amount of the relevant CGU
would be dropped by approximately RMB10.8 million (2022:
RMB7.1 million) as at 31 December 2023.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, a reasonably
possible change in key parameters would not cause
the carrying amount of the relevant CGU to exceed the
recoverable amount. If the growth rate decreased by 66%
or discount rate increased by 20% as at 31 December 2023
(as at 31 December 2022: the growth rate decreased by 24%
or discount rate increased by 11%), the recoverable amount
of the relevant CGU would be approximated to its carrying
amount.

In the opinion of the directors, there is no reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable
amount of the trademarks is based that would cause the
carrying amounts to exceed the recoverable amount.

AR M RRME

6.EBEEE (&)

BRI A ()

IR &% = T8 R BT FE A AL 3R £ 1 2023F 12 A31H
£14.5% (20224 1 14.6%) - ZEEHEEZ R XK
HASEEEEERERAEARERHTERRDY
TEHAETE - T AR R RFARBE RIS
BRI A BB R b o

B E At F E/REE - H2023F12A318 0 7] I
BE¢EORBEBRARCELBEMNEAET D
RE A RH80.98 & 7T (20224 : A R#42.98
BIT) o Mg RXRE 1% - 817N 2023F12 A31H
HEBASESEEMMNAIRKESEERLOHOAR
#81H B r(2022F : ARMS3IEE L) © fir Bh
I8 & ([ B OAT) 48 11% » Bl 72023412 A31H ##
BMECELBEUMAKRESEERIHOARE

i — i —

10.8H B L (2022F : A\RBT71IHEE L) °

ARAREERE TELHNAEAREHT
CERABARcESEMMNERAEBBAYKRE
& 58 - 1 R2023F12A31A W i & K 5 1 66%
3¢ Bh 3R R 3 N20% (2022412 A318 : # K R
D24% sy B IR R I N11%) - B BRI S E L E
MBS EGEEIRMEMRS -

EFRA URERTREEBERNZIER
2 UMABATLEE G S REE AR TR
% -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

17. INVENTORIES 17. 78
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARBFIT
Raw materials R AR 10,411 7,851
Work-in-progress EEIRE 4,329 4,885
Finished goods X oh 4,607 4,912
19,347 17,648
Less: provision for inventories W FERE (224) (315)
19,123 17,333
Analysis of the provision for inventory write down is as below: FEMBRBEENSTOT
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBFIT
At the beginning of the year R E A 315 692
Reversal for the year F K[ (91) 377)
At the end of the year NG 224 315
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, the #H £20224F K2023F12A31H L FE - 7 & &
reversal of provision for inventory arose from sale of obsolete BEEDDHNEERARTFEESE
inventory.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M RRME

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18.EG R HMEWRKE
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Trade receivables 2 5 W R IA

— Third parties —B=F 172,449 152,282
— Related parties — B H 6,544 3,372
Less: ECL allowance provision BRI EEEERE (5,202) (4,312)
173,791 151,342
Bills receivables & & 27,244 19,907
Less: ECL allowance provision BT EEEEREE (234) —
200,801 171,249
Prepayments T B 1,213 1,379
Refundable deposits (note) AR EE € (K7 32) 4,146 8,140
Other tax receivables H b fE W 7 18 3,204 178
Other receivables H b JE U SR I8 568 597
9,131 10,294
209,932 181,543

Note: The refundable deposits was paid for: Hat - FRERS DA TEEMZA:

(i) the consultancy work on potential acquisition of
investment targets amounting to RMB4,146,000 (2022:
RMB4,522,000). If no acquisition is completed within
the contract period, the deposit will be refunded to the
Group; and

(i)  operation system upgrade to strengthen the Group’s
Huanlong Paper Machine Efficiency Operation System
amounting to nil (2022: RMB3,618,000). If the work
cannot meet the target timeline completed within the
contract period, the deposit will be refunded to the
Group.

®

(i)

HEEBENBERBZNIE &8
A AN K #4,146,0007T (20224 : A B #&
4,522,0007T) ° fis 7 & £ HB A 3 £ UG B
TR BIESBRETFTAEE: R

EERG RN A S B E K E
ERREBILLRBEBETIEES €85
Z (20224 : 3,618,0007T) ° MR & 4 HA
NARTIERERBZEREATA - A
ReBRETFRAEE -
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The directors considered that the fair values of trade and
other receivables are not materially different from their
carrying amounts.

As at each reporting date, the ageing analysis of trade
receivables based on the delivery date is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

18.E 5 K H i FE W =R IH (/&)

EERREFIEMBERENAFERAR
HETEERER -

REZREAH BREXNBEHZINNEZEK
RIERER DT

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R AR®TT

0-90 days 0K £90K 113,420 94,527
91-180 days 91K £180K 28,495 20,204
181-365 days 181K 365K 18,895 22,543
Over 365 days 365K 18,183 18,380
178,993 155,654

The bills represent promissory notes issued by banks
received by the Group from customers who discharge their
liabilities to pay the Group for the goods or services invoiced.
These bills are endorsable, unsecured, non-interest bearing
and matured within one year.

As at 31 December 2023, included in the balances, bills
receivables of RMB3,690,000 (2022: nil) were discounted with
recourse. These bills receivables were not derecognised as
the title of these bills receivables were not transferred to the
counterparties. On the other hand, as at 31 December 2023,
discounted bills financing of RMB3,690,000 (2022: nil) was
recognised for the cash received (Note 24).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The ageing analysis of bills receivables presented based on
issue date at the end of each reporting period is as follows:

AR M RRME

18. B 5 & H 1 FE W 7K 18 (48)

RESREMRBTAHRZINEKEEKRER

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AREET T

0 — 90 days 0K E90K 14,385 12,146
91 — 180 days 91K £180K 12,719 7,301
181 — 365 days 181K 365K 140 460
27,244 19,907

Bills receivables endorsed

Not included in the years end balances, during the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group has transferred
bills receivables amounted to RMB106,652,200 (2022:
RMB100,933,910) to settle its payables through endorsing
the bills to its suppliers. In accordance with the Law of
Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the endorsee of the bills
has a right of recourse against the endorser if the issuing
banks default. For those endorsed to its suppliers, the Group
has derecognised these bills receivables and the trade and
other payables in their entirety. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of these bills to the
endorsee. The Group has limited exposure in respect of the
settlement obligation of these bills receivables under relevant
PRC rules and regulations should the issuing banks failed to
settle the bills on maturity date. The Group considered the
issuing banks of the bills are of good credit quality and the
risk of non-settlement by the issuing banks on maturity is
insignificant.

EEERBRERE

T AFE R &% - RELE2023F12A318 I F
- AEBEDEZEEWRRERARKL06,652,200
7L (20224 :+ A R #100,933,9107T) © WA & i@ #&
EZEZEMEARERNAEHEBEMNRIE - RIE
PEZERE  MEBENBETRITEN  ZE®
WEEATMBEEATEERE -SrREHE
HEENZEMs AEBCEHRIEERZ
ERKEBEREGREMENRIE KAQARE
ERE AEEEEZSEBRMAENEGB R
PEBEEREREEEWESEA REFEH
FBIAR A REE - MEBTRITAERIHBELE
EZR AEERZERREEAENEES
FOEBER AEERAEEZHEBTRITAR
FEEEGE ARTRTANIBERELEEN
EBBHTEE -
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Bills receivables endorsed (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the maximum exposure to loss,
which is same as the amount payable by the Group to the
endorsee in respect of the endorsed bills, should the issuing
banks fail to settle the bills on maturity date amounted to
RMB106,652,200 (2022: RMB100,933,910). All the bills
receivables endorsed have a maturity date of less than one
year from the end of each reporting period.

The movement in the ECL allowance of trade and bills
receivables is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

18.E 5 K H i FE W =R IH (/&)

EEERURE(E)

M2023F12 A31H » METRITRENHAH
HEZE AEAEBRRBESHRAEER
EEEZRRNEEBEEANSEAAR
#106,652,2007T (20224 : A R #100,933,910
L) MBEBEERKRERZIHAAESREH
REBFIILR—F -

BORUFARBUEENRREEBBRERZ
BHmT:

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR TR ARBF T

At the beginning of the year iNEE ) 4,312 3,639
Amounts written off B 5 € &8 (420) (150)
Provision of ECL allowance BHEEBEREB 1,544 823
At the end of the year R E R 5,436 4,312

As at 31 December 2023, included in the balance of
ECL allowance provision are individually impaired trade
receivables with an aggregate balance of RMB3,821,000
(2022: RMB1,821,000), with reference to the historical
experience of these receivables, the collection of these
receivables may not be recoverable. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

Further details of the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade and other receivables are set out in Note
36.5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

19.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 9. AFEFAEBEENEREE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®TF R ARBT T
Listed equity securities and warrants — ETRAE F R EE —

Hong Kong BB 830 984
The fair value of the Group’s investments in listed equity AEBRETRABESLREFNREZATE
securities and warrants has been measured as described in ThiR BRI E36.7F E °
Note 36.7.

20.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 200 ERASEEY
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARBF T
Cash and bank balances Re RIBRITHE SR 78,631 85,618
Cash at banks earns interests at floating rates based on daily HRITHSEBRESHRTERANEFENFE
bank deposit rates. B = BREUF 2, o
Included in bank and cash balances of the Group is AEEMBRTRBESERBEFTREPEER
RMB20,226,000 (2022: RMB10,654,000) of bank balances HUARBETARBDAENRITEBRARYE
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) placed with banks in 20,226,0007T (20224 : A R %10,654,0007T) °
the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Under ARBTTEHLIR - RIBEFHEINEEEEH
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and LR EERNEEREBRTE AEEEER
Administration of Settlement and Sales and Payment of MEERRIINEXEBORITEARE LB
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to ¥ o

exchange RMB for foreign currencies through banks that are
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

21.CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2LEXNEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ART T ARBEFT T
Amount received in advance for sales of R EREREM
papermaking felts products expected to be T8 5 U BX Y FRIE 15 A LA
recognise: T EAFA TR
— within one year —— K 1,395 486
Contract liabilities represent the deposits received from the AGREBENRAREFERERATHIMNERE
customers in advance of the transfer of papermaking felts to FPikg -
the customers.
Contract liabilities outstanding at the beginning of the year REVREREES L BE AK327,0007T (2022
amounting to RMB327,000 (2022: RMB110,000) have been F: ARM110,000) ERFAER A &= -
recognised as revenue during the year.
22.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22.BZRHMENKRE
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T R ARBFT
Trade payables EZEMNRE
— Third parties —%=75 26,040 20,768
Other payables Hfth FE 4 R 1B
Other payables H i JE 5118 3,523 3,585
Construction payables FER T2 IR 9,087 905
Accrued salaries JEFT T & RIE 6,563 5,824
Receipt in advance from a tenant TEU A P 58 700 700
Accruals FE 5t F 18 3,172 3,334
Warranty provision REBHE 5,121 4,699
Other tax payables i FE S B IE 1,725 8,719
29,891 27,766
55,931 48,534
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

22.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 2.ES5KHMENRIE(E)

NEEEEMEFR T30290K(20224F : 30&
R )MIZEH  -RELXLEZEAH ZEHEMNKE

The Group is granted by its suppliers a credit periods of 30
to 90 days (2022: 30 to 90 days). Based on the invoice dates,

the ageing analysis of the trade payables is as follows: IERE DT T
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT R ARBTTT
0-30 days 0RZ30XK 7,952 9,285
31-60 days 31K E60X 6,446 4,450
61-90 days 61K £90K 4,997 2,804
91-180 days 91X £180K 4,720 2,919
181-365 days 181K 365K 1,517 901
Over 365 days 365K M I 408 409
26,040 20,768

The carrying values of trade and other payables are
considered to be reasonable approximation of their fair

B REMENRENREERR RS HE i H

HRFEMRE -

values.

The movement in the warranty provision is as follows: REBEBNEFHNOT:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARTR ARBF T
At beginning of year NG 4,699 4,605
Provision for the year FAREAE 6,566 4,579
Utilisation for the year FREA (6,144) (4,485)
At end of year R E R 5,121 4,699

RERBEEEEEHASENEMETHIENLS
E1R20KRRE(REBELR LA B REE M
TEERBH)MAERTOREMRE -

The warranty provision represents management’s best
estimate of the Group’s liability under 45 to 120 days warranty
granted on papermaking felts, based on prior experience and
industry averages for defective products.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRME

23.LEASE LIABILITIES

23.fiEA8E

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ART ARBTT
Total minimum lease payment due: ENRERENREE:
— Within one year ——FR 4,394 3,866
— In the second to fifth years —RE_ZERE 3,456 6,971
7,850 10,837
Future finance charges on leases liabilities HEABERRREER (336) (704)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBERE 7,514 10,133
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ART R ARBF T
Present value of minimum lease payments: SEBAENFHRE
— Within one year ——FR 4,125 3,460
— In the second to fifth years —REZEZEFRF 3,389 6,673
7,514 10,133
Less: Portion due within one year included under 3§ R8I BEE FTH—F R
current liabilities B E (4,125) (3,460)
Portion due after one year included under non- FMBABEETH—F1&
current liabilities B HE o 3,389 6,673

The Group leases properties for operation and these lease
liabilities were measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not yet paid. All leases are entered at fixed
prices and typically made for fixed periods of one to two
years (2022: one to three years), lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis.

The total cash outflows for leases including the payments of

lease liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
RMB4,417,000 (2022: RMB5,420,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

24.DISCOUNTED BILLS FINANCING A B EERME
The balance represents borrowings from banks by ux,nﬁﬁTaLﬂﬁEfﬁ$E@EL%%E’]F§H& -
discounting, with recourse, bills receivables to the Group SHRITER  ZZFEBREE=ZFEFE -
which were endorsed by third parties. The Group continues EEE"FELBZ RIERNFFERTEERZHFH - B
to recognise the carrying amount of the underlying bills I AN 55 B 48 4B RE SR B SR 18 AT 2 51 A B M U = R
receivables, as presented in Note 18, since the title of FIEREE -

receivables was not transferred to the counterparties.

25.BANK BORROWINGS 25. 8B 1T B ™K
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBTTT
Bank borrowings |ATHE R
— current — AN ER 84,961 57,500
— non-current — JEBNER 184,500 104,500
269,461 162,000
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, bank borrowings were 20234 K 20224128318 + B # #F iR 17 & &
secured and repayable as follows: FEETFEEBRWOT:
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T ARBTTT
Carrying amount repayable (Note) ARUATHEEEMNE@DE
(Htat)
— within one year — —FR 84,961 57,500
— in the second year to fifth year inclusive — F£ _-_FEFERHFE
(BHEERMF) 139,500 104,500
— after five years — AfF & 45,000 —
269,461 162,000
Note: The amounts are based on the scheduled repayment dates set W ZESEPENEZBSFAENBETESA
out in the loan agreements. #HHEaE -

The interest rates of the bank borrowings is set out in Note SRATIE AR =& LM 5E36.3 ©
36.3.
The bank borrowings were secured by pledged assets as set RITERBDIEIBEE EER (M :E35) °

out in Note 35.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRME

26.0THER BORROWINGS

26. H 1t 15 K

2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBEFT T
Other borrowings H b 18 3R
— current — BHA 27,437 24,381
— non-current — JEBNER 29,815 29,122
57,252 53,503
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, other borrowings were 20234 K% 2022912 A318 @ B K # H b {8 3
secured and repayable as follows: MEETEEBAET:
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR T ARBTT
Carrying amount repayable: AR THREEENREE:
— within one year — —F R 27,437 24,381
— in the second to fifth year inclusive — F_FEEFRF(BIEEEMTE) 29,815 29,122
57,252 53,503

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered
into sale and leaseback agreements with leasing companies
for machinery and equipment (“Secured Assets”) amounting
to RMB33,717,000 (2022: RMB49,336,000) for a period of
three years (2022: a period of three years). Upon maturity, the
Group will be entitled to purchase the Secured Assets.

As at 31 December 2023, one of the sale and leaseback
agreement amounting to RMB14,200,000 (2022: nil) has
been settled before maturity and the related Secured Assets
amounting to RMB29,998,000 (2022: nil) has been purchased
by the Group.
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26

27.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

.OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

The interest rates of the other borrowings is set out in Note
36.3.

As at 31 December 2023, sale and leaseback obligation
of RMB57,252,000 (2022: RMB53,503,000) was secured
by the Group’s construction in progress and plant and
equipment with carrying amount of RMB74,204,000 (2022 :
RMB98,826,000) and RMB45,828,000 (2022: nil), respectively
(Note 12).

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as
follows :

AR M RRME

26. Htp fE R (&)

HoAh 5 5K A R 8P 5E36.3 -

M2023F12A31H ERBHAETAARE
57,252,0007T (20224 : A R #53,503,0007T)
MAEBEEREEMESD R A A RMT4,204,000
7L (20224 : A R #98,826,0007T) & A R ¥
45,828,0007T (20224 : &) ) £ & T 12 A M &
5 Ko 5% 5 1E 15 1 (BT 5E12) ©

27. I EFHi 18

ERERBEEE (ABE)NEHMT:

Deferred Tax Assets EEBEBLEE
Provision of Unrealised
Provision for allowance on profit in Right-of-use
inventories receivable inventories assets Total
FERE ERHERE AERFEEN EREEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR
As at 1 January 2022 722022F1A1A 104 546 70 — 720
Credited/(Charged) to RERFA/(HB)
profit or loss (Note 8) (H##8) (57) 101 ) — 40
As at 31 December 2022 and 722022912 A318 &
1 January 2023 2023F1A1H 47 647 66 — 760
Credited/(Charged) to REBEFA/(NK)
profit or loss (Note 8) (Hii18) (13) 133 20 2,356 2,496
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%12A31A 34 780 86 2,356 3,256
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRME

27.DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

27 EER B ()

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Accelerated tax

EEHBAE

Withholding on
undistributed

depreciation profits Lease liabilities Total
RAOMEER
MERERE MAENB HEAE @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBT ARBTR AR¥TR
As at 1 January 2022 #202261F18 (2114) — (167) (2,281)
Charged to profit or loss (Note 8) RERMG (778 (409) (1,960) (471 (2,840)
As at 31 December 2022 and 202212 A318
1 January 2023 20231718 (2,523) (1,960) (638) (5,.121)
Credited to profit or loss upon payment i Z & st A B % - 1,985 — 1,985
(Charged)/Credited to in profit or RE&(R)/FA
loss (Note 8) (fi:t8) (1,155) (903) (2,189) (4,247)
As at 31 December 2023 12023512 F 318 (3,678) (878) (2,827) (7,383)
The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of RIGATBERREEZRNSENT
financial position are as follows:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTT
Deferred tax assets recognised in the REEET BRI RERL
consolidated statement of financial position BEERIBEE 900 760
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RiFaT B RN RERLN
consolidated statement of financial position EEHIBAR (5,027) (5,121)
Net deferred tax liabilities EXEFIBAEFHE (4,127) (4,361)
As at 31 December 2023, deferred tax liabilities have not M2023F12H318 MA@ BE A DR F

been recognised on the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with the undistributed profits of
Sichuan Huanlong for the withholding taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of approximately
RMB206,096,000 (2022 : RMB191,979,000) that are subject
to withholding taxes. The Company controls the dividend
policy of Sichuan Huanlong and it is not probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, withholding tax of
RMB1,082,000 (2022 : RMB1,960,000) was charged to profit
or loss for the dividends declared by Sichuan Huanlong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

28.SHARE CAPITAL 28. |7
No. of shares RMB’000
BHER AR®BTR
Authorised : EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FRREE0.018 TH
TiE R
As at 1 January 2022 20221 A1H 38,000,000 335
Increase in authorised share capital A E R A 1,962,000,000 24,020
As at 31 December 2022,1 January 2023 2022412 A31H -
and 31 December 2023 2023F1A1H &
2023712 A31H 2,000,000,000 24,355
Issued and fully paid : ERTRABR:
As at 1 January 2022 R2022F1H1H 12,000 1
Capitalisation Issue (note a) BRI ET (K ita) 365,788,000 2,990
Issue of shares on 11 January 2022 (note b) 2022F1H11H 2 1T D
(K iEb) 114,200,000 930
Issue of shares on 8 February 2022 (note c) R2022F2 A8H %17 K 0
(B 7tc) 3,442,000 28
As at 31 December 2022,1 January 2023 M20224F12 4318 -
and 31 December 2023 2023F1A1H &
2023412 A31H 483,442,000 3,949
The Share capital of the Company comprises of fully paid ARABRABIEEHENZET AR BREHERE
ordinary Shares. As fully paid ordinary Shares are equally TERERDNRERERAEEFAZERESE
eligible to receive dividends and to the repayment of capital BN AREIRRAELERE—R -
and represent one vote at shareholders' meetings of the
Company.
Notes B
(@ Pursuant to the resolutions of the shareholders passed on (@) MIFEKEN2021F12A90HBBEMAZEER - A
9 December 2021, subject to the share premium account of ARAHBHEEEER2RREmBIRER &2
the Company being credited as a result of the global offering, EREBBEARR G HE K # k3,657,880
the directors were authorised to allot and issue a total of BT (RS RO ARK2,990,0000T) BEFREAR - R
365,788,000 shares credited as fully paid at par to the holders B2021F 12 ASHE REER B ARAI RIS
of the shares on the register of members of the Company MEOBRDHFBEAMEORELD  MESEZER
at the close of business on 8 December 2021 in proportion BITIREE ARV ES B8 A $£365,788,000A%
to their shareholdings by way of capitalisation of the sum of R m (TEAREETT]) - EAR(EEITH2022F 1711
HK$3,657,880 (equivalents to approximately RMB2,990,000) HEmRAEX  MAEERETHOROMREZIE
standing to the credit of the share premium account of the HRFERTRNEBRSFMAL -

Company (the “Capitalisation Issue”). The Capitalisation Issue is
effective upon listing on 11 January 2022 and the shares allotted
and issued rank pari passu in all respects with the existing
issued shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

28.

29.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes : (Continued)

(b) On 11 January 2022, the Company issued 114,200,000 new
shares at HK$1.22 per share for total gross proceeds of
HK$139,324,000 (equivalents to approximately RMB113,477,000)
by way of initial public offering of the Company on the Stock
Exchange.

(c) On 8 February 2022, the Company further issued 3,442,000
new shares at HK$1.22 per share for total gross proceeds of
HK$4,199,240 (equivalents to approximately RMB3,429,000)
upon partial exercise of the over-allotment option granted by the
Company.

RESERVES

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
of each component of the Group’s equity is set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the
par value of the shares of the Company and net proceeds
received from the issuance of the shares of the Company.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company may be applied for payment
of distributions or dividends to the shareholders provided that
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the aggregate
of the share capital of the subsidiaries comprising the Group
arising from the reorganisation for listing on the Stock
Exchange.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, each of
the company that was registered in the PRC is required to
appropriate 10% of the annual statutory profit after tax (after
offsetting any prior years’ losses), determined in accordance
with the PRC accounting standards, to the statutory reserve
until the balance of the reserve funds reaches 50% of the
entity’s registered capital. The statutory reserve can be
utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital,
provided the remaining balance of the statutory reserve is not
less than 25% of the registered capital.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

30.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 30. 4 A A B B % iR R &
THE COMPANY

2023 2022
2023% 20224
Notes RMB’00 RMB’00
b & AR® T ARBEF T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NG R 1,594 1,594
Amount due from a subsidiary JE Y B B A B B IE 21,341 22,060
22,935 23,654
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TEFRIE K B A R U 5k T8 4,276 8,661
Amount due from a subsidiary JE Y B B A B FIE 80 —
Financial assets at fair value through EAFEFABERZD
profit or loss TRMEE 19 830 984
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEEY 73,635 74,143
78,821 83,788
Current liabilities REEE
Amount due to a subsidiary FERTHIE AR RIE 20,516 23,730
Accruals FEFHEOIE 2,179 2,403
22,695 26,133
Net current assets REBEETFE 56,126 57,655
Net assets EEFHE 79,061 81,309
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXREE
Share capital [N 28 3,949 3,949
Reserves ke 75,112 77,360
Total equity R 79,061 81,309
Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024 and M202453H28AKEE S/ A WHUTATL
were signed on its behalf. REZESE -
Shen Genlian Xie Zongguo
AR & #WRE
Director Director
EFE EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

30.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 30.XDNFWE AR R K (E)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: The movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows: Bat: ARBNEEEHOT:
Share Capital ~ Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B EE B E 2itE R &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

As at 1 January 2022 #20221818 - 1,502 (26,337) (24,745)
Profit for the year EREH — - 681 681
Capitalisation issue ERLES (2,990) — — (2,990)
Issue of new shares BIHRA 115,948 - - 115,948
Transaction costs attributable to issue of new shares ~ ETHRHEEZHH A (11,534) - - (11,534)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 12022512 4318 % 202351 A1H 101,424 1,592 (25,656) 77,360
Profit for the year EREMN - - 15,578 15,578
Final dividends paid to equity holders of the Company ~ #Z2022F12A318 1t FEEN A

for the year ended 31 December 2022 (Note 11) RABERAEARBRE
(W) — — (17,826) (17,826)
As at 31 December 2023 12023512318 101,424 1,592 (27,904) 75,112
As at 31 December 2023, the distributable reserves of M2023F12A318 - AR AWM AIDIKREZEE B A
the Company amounting to RMB73,520,000 (2022 : R #73,520,0007T (20224 : A R #75,768,000
RMB75,768,000). TT) °

31.LEASE COMMITMENTS 3LIEEXIE
As Lessor EREAEA
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had future 20234 K% 2022F 128318 © KAEE R & T A
aggregate minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable B KL HE R E WA R R &K ERIEB
operating leases in respect of factory building as follows : wEmm

2023 2022

2023% 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARET T

Within one year —FR" 799 1,499
After one year but within two years —FEEMFER — 799
799 2,298

150 VANOV HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED BEEZERERARE



32.

33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at end of the reporting date,
commitments are as follows :

the Group has capital

B2.EXEIE

RBESFK KEBOERREDT

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBFT
Contracted but not provided for BITHNEREE
Property, plant and equipment M- WEREE 18,669 83,614
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED WBHEEHERERME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities : MEGFHEENEEHER:
Discounted
Bank Other bills Lease
borrowings borrowings financing liabilities
RITER HitfER HEREBRE HESE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%TR AR®TR AR¥TR AR¥TR
As at 1 January 2022 R2022%1R1H 105,000 22,534 3,821 1,338
Cash flows : Remng:
Proceeds Fr/a R 162,300 — — —
Repayment b (105,300) (18,367) (3,821) -
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENEEREREHD - - — (4,840)
Interest element of lease rentals paid =3 ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬂ H - - — (70)
Non-cash transaction : FRER
New borrowings (Note 26) it 1a o ( i 26) — 49,336 — —
New leases MHE - — — 8,804
Lease modification EEY - - — 4,831
Effect of interest charges FIEERYE — — — 70
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R2022%12A31A K
2023F1A1R 162,000 53,503 — 10,133
Cash flows : Beng:
Proceeds BB 185,000 30,000 3,690 —
Repayment BN (77,539) (29,968) — —
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEREREHS - — — (3,871)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEERSHEHS — — — (458)
Non-cash transactions : (BERH:
New borrowings (Note 26) AR (77 26) — 3,717 — —
New leases MEE - - — 1,252
Effect of interest charges MEERYZ — — — 458
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%12A31H 269,461 57,252 3,690 7,514
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

34.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4B AR S
Save as disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial BB M MR TISHAFEEI  KEER
statements, the Group had the following transactions with its FERNEEBABIETTUTIRS

related parties during the year :

(a) Names and relationship (@ BEBREHF

Name of related party Relationship with the Group

BEHEER BAEENER

Sichuan Huanlong New Material Ltd.* A company controlled by the Controlling
(MR BEF M BB R AR Shareholders

IR BEFHM BB R A A X AR AR ) R R

Sichuan Huanlong Daily Products Ltd.* A company controlled by the Controlling
(MIAREETHRBRAT) Shareholders

mNEREEEZARERAF X2 A PR BRI EY A )

*  The translation of name in English is for identification RN ERERER -

purposes only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

34.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS MABBAERS ()
(Continued)

(b) Related party transactions b) BEAERS
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR ARBTT
(i) Material transactions with related () HEABAENEARRS
parties
Name of related party Nature
B £ B L=
Sichuan Huanlong New Material Ltd.* Sales
(“Huanlong New Material”) (note) 3,047 2,796
MIIREFMEER AT HE
(TREFMED K )
Sichuan Huanlong Daily Products Ltd.* Sales
(“Huanlong Daily Products”) (note) 1,252 1,173
Ml REEERADBERAA HE
(MREAERRD (K T)

Note: Huanlong New Material and Huanlong Daily Products are Ba: BRETVMHRERLETARALBEX
associates of Ms. Shen Genlian and Mr. Zhou Jun and TRABRLAENBEA MREETER
Huanlong Daily Products is a wholly owned subsidiary of BRREFMHENEENBELAR - 8Z
Huanlong New Material, the related party transactions EMBRIBEMFE  ARIE-ER
shall therefore be aggregated and treated as if they were SRE EBRLETHRNFUAZTIETH
one transaction and constitute continuing connected HEEERS -
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Sales to related parties were conducted in the Group’s MBEBTNEETTRAREES X%B
normal course of business and at prices and terms no less BPET BREBERETEARAE
than those charged to and contracted with other third party EEME=FAFPWRILEAEITIHE
customers of the Group. & R AR -
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
(i) Key management personnel (i) TEEEAEHRMH
compensation
Salaries, allowances and benefits e REEREN 3,883 3,511
Contribution to defined contribution FEH-FORANG B4
retirement plans B4 254 248
4,137 3,759
*  for identification purposes only * EHRBE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRME

34.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(c) Balances with related parties

B4 BB X 5H (1E)

(c) B2BARS 75 A9 45 BR

2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR ARBTT
Amounts due from related parties: PE UK BB 5 RRIE
Huanlong New Material IREEFMR
— trade — 85 4,889 2,431
Huanlong Daily Products REAFA®
— trade — 85 1,655 941
6,544 3,372

Note: The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. The trade balances had a credit
period of 60 days (2022:60 days). The carrying amounts
approximates their fair value and are denominated in RMB.

35.PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of each reporting period, certain of the Group’s
assets were pledged to secure bank and other borrowings of
the Group. The aggregate carrying amount of the assets of
the Group pledged at the end of the reporting period are as

Mat: BEAREAEERE 2BRARENRE
- BHEHNEENA60R (20224F ¢
60H) - REBEBHAEAFTEMESE LM
ARHEETE -

B(L.EEERA

REREHMER AEEETEESEFUANEG
BYARENRTRAEMER AEEDEA
BERBEMARANEEAENT

follows:

2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARBT T

Property, plant and equipment (Note 12) M BERZE
(Bt 5#12) 145,470 128,884

Land lease prepayment (Note 15) T EBE A RIE
(#4 5£15) 4,843 5,180
150,313 134,064
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 6. BEBEERAFEFE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS

AEERERAEXBBERREZDTER
TRTARZMBRR HBHERREFETSER
B (BHESNERER - AR R EEMERRR)
EERBRERBERR

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations and
in its investment activities. The financial risks include market
risk (including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

AEBENBRBYBEAREERRZINEERD
ST AEAERRBE  EBREERIY

The Group’s overall financial risk management policies
focuses on the unpredictability and volatility at financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on RAEBFHBRRA UBRBRRERNEFTAELE
the financial position, financial performance and cash flows KM EE - BERBITEESRIES FE
of the Group. No derivative financial instruments are used to fa] @ B o

hedge any risk exposures.

36.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities BLEMEERAEESE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ART R ARET T
Financial assets cREE
Financial assets measured at [g: 3o N 0]
amortised cost: TEEE -

Trade and other receivables B5 Kk EMEWFKIE 207,615 181,894
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeSED 78,631 85,618

Financial assets at FVTPL: NFEGA BB
Listed equity securities and warrants ERAEHREE 830 984
287,076 268,496

Financial liabilities cRBE
Financial liabilities measured at JE BB A K G2 A
amortised cost: TEEE:

Trade and other payables Bk HAMENRIA 48,385 34,416
Lease liabilities HEAE 7,514 10,133
Discounted bills financing AR ERmE 3,690 —
Bank borrowings H|ITER 269,461 162,000
Other borrowings H b 15 3K 57,252 53,503
386,302 260,052
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

.M BEMEBERAFEE(E)

36.2 Foreign currency risk 36.2 7h & & B
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value SNERBIESRRIANAFERAKRRES

or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk arise primarily
from its sales transactions and IPO proceeds, which are
primarily denominated in US$ and HK$ which are not the

MEREXZSMEBHOER AXEEE
e R TEREETENEZTME
TAENHEERIRLETEEES £
&/’énjr#$‘ilgﬁiéii“%ﬁf’§ﬁ’]‘§%§
S Ab»{b

functional currencies of the respective entities within the
Group to which these transactions relate.

As at the end of each of reporting period, US$ and HK$ REFREHR UWET KRBT EREH
denominated financial assets translated into RMB at the REXBESAREBENECHEENT :
closing rates, are as follows:

Trade
2023 receivables Bank balances
20234 EZEWRE RITH &
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR TR AR® TR
USs$ ETT 1,806 58,213
HK$ BT — 192
1,806 58,405

Trade
2022 receivables Bank balances
20224 B S WA 8717 4 £
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®EF T AR®ET T
US$ ETT 2,396 53,637
HK$ BT — 21,327
2,396 74,964

TRBTRANKSE®NFEAGMAEHRE G R
REaHEEEERNEERLETE
TE?HEE’J@S(WF ZEHRELESRAT

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the
Group’s profit after income tax for the year and equity in
regards to an appreciation in the functional currencies of
respective group entities against US$ and HK$. These EIRAB NI WmE INE R B AT ER A &Y
sensitivity rates are the rates used when reporting foreign bR WREREERBHIINEEERATEEHR
currency risk internally to key management personnel KB R ERT M -

and represents management’'s best assessment of the

possible change in foreign exchange rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR .HKABEERAFETE(E)
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.2 Foreign currency risk (Continued) 36.2 MR B (5B)
Sensitivity Decrease Decrease
2023 rate in profit in equity
20234 BRE i AR 2 R D
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T
US$ ESp 5% 2,551 2,551
HK$ BT 5% 8 8
Sensitivity Decrease Decrease
2022 rate in profit in equity
2022F FRE g F R T &R
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR F T ARBF T
uss$ ET 5% 2,381 2,381
HK$ BT 5% 906 906
The same % depreciation in the respective group MEBEBEERNNEEEE SIHNE LR
entities’ functional currencies against the respective HMEB LR E S AEENFE AR
foreign currencies would have the same magnitude on MEEREAEEHEREEEERNTE -
the Group’s profit for the year and equity but of opposite
effect.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency REEBRWEIINEH FEREK  UEHYE
hedging policy, and manages its foreign currency risk by RINBIZHEBE IEEERABEUAEE
closely monitor the scale of foreign currency transactions, HONE R B o

foreign currency assets and liabilities.

Annual Report 2023 £ 157



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRME

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.3 Interest rate risk

.M BEMEBERAFEE(E)

36.3 &) = & k&

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. Bank borrowings and
other borrowing bearing variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk and the Company was not
subject to interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate risk
arises primarily from variable rates bank borrowings and
other borrowing. The exposure to interest rates for the

Group’s bank deposits is considered immaterial.

The interest rates of the Group’s borrowings at the

reporting date were as follows:

MEEBRIEREBMIANATEIR SR
ERMHHNEEZHMIHNER - RFH
MEFBHMRITERREMBEREAEE
AR REMNERR MARFRAAR
MERBREZE AEBOMERARETENR
BEERITERREMER - REBEIRTT
FHRASHFERBRMTRE -

&

JiE]

N EBHEROF RO

2023 2022
2023% 20224
Interest Interest
rate per rate per
annum RMB’000 annum RMB’000
FHE AR%®TrR EME AREFT
Bank borrowings RITHEN
— Floating interest rate —ZB 5.90%-6.50% 119,900 3.45%-6.50% 40,900
— Fixed interest rate — TR 3.20%-5.20% 149,561 3.65%-5.20% 121,100
269,461 162,000
Other borrowing H fth {5
— Floating interest rate — %8 5.50%—-7.10% 57,252 6.85%—-7.20% 53,503
326,713 215,503
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.3 Interest rate risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis is not provided as the amount is
considered insignificant.

The same degree of decrease in basis point would have
the same magnitude on the Group’s profit for the year
and the total equity as at the end of each reporting period
but of opposite effect.

The assumed changes in interest rates are considered
to be reasonably possible based on observation of
current market conditions and represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rate. The analysis is performed on the same basis during
the years.

36.4 Other price risk

Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair values or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than changes
in interest rates and foreign exchange rates). The Group
is exposed to change in market prices in respect of
its investments in listed equity securities and warrants
classified as financial assets at FVTPL.

The sensitivity analysis is not provided as the amount is
considered insignificant.

36.5 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause
a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s exposure to
credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to customers
in the ordinary course of its operations. The Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying
amounts of the financial assets at end of each reporting
period as detailed in Note 36.1.

AR M RRME

.U BEMEERRFENEE)

36.3 A Z= & kx (4&)

HRERER A TER ABAERHHX
E DM o

HEEERES S AEERFANEN R
EMERRNERKEAREEERNELE
HROTZE -

MNENBREGDHDEBERBITTINRRRS
EREMBARERNEY  TRXEEEY
MESEWAREBEHOFME - Z DM
TYRFENE R EELELT -

36.4 H tb 8 4% & B2

Eﬂﬂ{ﬁﬁﬂ REBRR TS BRES (R ER
EERZFHRIIMIIBEBIAZAFEL
*XL@@/ALE/&@ZH G REBERD A
REAFEFABZNEREEN ETR
ABELHREBREAIMIGERAR -

HRERER B TER HAERfHX
B e

SEERR

EERRESRIANZGHFHAERE
TEERTAGREBETEE ERAKE
SXUBEENER AEBEAZHEE
RETE2RENREEEBBERLETEP
MEE AEEAXNESEERR AN
AT HAE MENREMEENKTE
BERLR-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

.M BEMEBERAFEE(E)

36.5 Credit risk (Continued) BH EEERK(E)

Trade and bills receivables

The Group usually grants a credit period of 30 to 180
days (2022: 30 to 180 days) to its customers. Before
accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. Credit limits granted to customers are
reviewed periodically.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade and bills
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected
credit loss below also incorporate forward-looking
information.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring ECL, which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade and bills receivables using a
provision matrix and individual assessment. The ECL rate
of collectively assessed trade and bills receivables are
detailed in the following table:

Less than 365 More than 365

Current  days past due

days past due

ESEUFERERRE

AEBRBREH TEEF30E180K (2022F ¢
0E1BOR)MEEH - REMNTAFERP
ZH AKBEeNHBERFAFNEELE X
TATEFPHNEERE BRTEFPHNEE
REE 2 F HRAT -

BHEEMEEFE  B5EKRERE
WEBERBEAREERREERANE
BN ATEREEBATESAEY
EH o

AEERBEEMBRELERNEISRMELT
FEAERHBEEEE ERBEGERRLE
ARFERAMBEZ BT BAREBEREE
ReHEREBERER TXRFINRFES
ERFALREBREENBEREEBREX:

Total trade Bills
receivables receivables

Individually
impaired

N8 AHIGGRARN  BEI65RUL BRIHE ERRUAEEE EWES
As at 31 December 2023  R2023%12A31A
ECL rate BHEEBER 0.7% 1.3% 14.7% 90% 0.9%
Gross carrying amount B4 111,662 62,520 990 3,821 178,993 21,244
Lifetime ECL PHEHEERR 814 804 145 3,439 5,202 234
As at 31 December 2022 202012 F 318
ECL rate BHEEBER 0.9% 2.7% 7.3% 90% -
Gross carrying amount FHEHE 88,619 62,430 2,784 1,821 155,654 19,907
Lifetime ECL rPHEHEERR 798 1,673 202 1,639 4312 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

.M BEAMEERAFETE(E)

36.5 Credit risk (Continued) BSEERM(E)

Trade and bills receivables (Continued)

Throughout the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, the historical credit loss experience of the
customers of the Group, the forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment
remains no significant changes. As such, expected credit
loss rate throughout the years remains stable.

Other receivables and amounts due from
related parties

In order to minimise the credit risk of other receivables,
the management of the Group has designated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits and credit
approvals. The management would make periodic
collective and individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables based on historical settlement
records and past experience as well as current external
information and adjusted to reflect probability weighted
forward-looking information, including the default rate
where the relevant debtors operates. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In these regards, the
credit risk of other receivables are considered to be low.

Besides, the management is of opinion that there is
no significant increase in credit risk on these other
receivables since initial recognition as the risk of default
is low after considering the factors as set out in Note 2.9
and, thus, no ECL recognised during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: nil).

Cash and cash equivalents

The credit risks are considered to be insignificant
because the counterparties are financial institutions that
have sound credit rating.

ESEWFNEAREREREE)

PR E E20234F 2022912 A31R 1L FE » K
SEEFHNBAGCGEBBELR - BHKAN
BEAMBEEEERECERBEVESAEY -
At 2FANTEREEBEREREBT -

E@EWTA{E&EW&?%ﬁTA

EREEMERRENEERR &
I BEEHEK - XEKRAREEEREE
RELEEEL EERESRERBBERE
R NMBELRBRANBAIINGE R - EH
“TEI?@fHﬁZTAIEEﬁTH&@|$iEﬁ$‘%i‘f&1l
PIREME - HE@ETHBARRBE X mED
AEMEER BRABEEBAZENEY
Ko ZEHEEMEEREFABRRRERR
ETHAWODBMER -7 E - H

FEURENEERRBERSER -

oh BEREZ R WE2.9MEE %R
REEREHNERER AxSHMER
RENEERBR AV G ER AR EEE
I .EE§Y32023£F12E31E|¢¢EEE
mIEREHEEEIB(2022F &)

BERBELTEEY

EERRBEARMTIRE  BAEFTAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRME

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

.M BEMEBERAFEE(E)

36.6 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk
in respect of settlement of its payables, and also in
respect of its cash flow management. The Group’s
objective is to maintain an appropriate level of liquid
assets and committed lines of funding to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual
maturities for its financial liabilities as at 31 December
2023. When the creditor has a choice of when the liability
is settled, the liability is included on the basis of the
earliest date when the Group can be required to pay.
Where the settlement of the liability is in instalments,
each instalment is allocated to the earliest period in which
the Group is committed to pay. The contractual maturity
analysis below is based on the undiscounted cash flows
of the financial liabilities.

36.6 % BV & < [ &

mBETRBRIEARBELZBETUAR S
FEMEREELAENSRABHRBER
WEkE e  AEEREEEBRNREUARE
BHERSREMBRDESRR A5 H
MEEEABEENARDEEKFRIRE
EAFNEERE UENEERHEREE
HHRBESFR -

LA & K £ B 7A2023F12A31HM £ @t &
EBRTEOINE T - MERBABEERE
BEMENER AZAaERBAEEA
BEWERINOZREAMBMINEKE - MEBEA
DHERMN ISHERIEEZAEE AR
YROEEHME U TEHNIBEHT IR
BoeRmAaERMBERSREED -

Over Over
Within one year two years Total
one year or but within but within undiscounted Carrying
on demand two years five years Over five years amount amount
-ERg eR-fF ERME

REX BRER BRER ERIF  RHRAH REE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETR  AR®Tn  AR®Tr  AR%Tn ARETR  ARETR

As at 31 December 2023  R2023F12A31A
Trade and other payables BHREMERNTIE 48,385 - - 48,385 48,385
Lease liabilities HEGR 4,394 3,456 - 7,850 7,514
Discounted bills financing ~ HEZERE 3,690 - - 3,690 3,690
Bank borrowings RITER 92,124 101,825 68,233 58,081 320,263 269,461
Other borrowings HifER 30,603 18,894 12,285 61,782 57,252
179,196 124175 80,518 58,081 441,970 386,302

As at 31 December 2022 ®2022%12A31H
Trade and other payables &5 R E i EF 7B 34,416 — — 34,416 34,416
Lease liabilities REBR 3,866 3,912 3,059 10,837 10133
Bank borrowings RITER 64,551 25,737 88,894 179,182 162,000
Other borrowings HibER 28,244 23,290 6,616 58,150 53,503
131,077 52,939 98,569 282,585 260,052
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR M RRME

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR B.FKEREERAFENE(E)

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.7 Fair value measurements of financial BITEMIENDAFEEE

instruments

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
in the consolidated statement of financial position are
grouped into three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The
three levels are defined based on the observability and
significance of inputs to the measurements, as follows:

Details the Group’s investment property and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows. The levels are based
on the observability and significance of inputs to the
measurements, as follows:

e Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets and liabilities.

¢ Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.

¢ Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the
financial asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement.

REVBMRRRAZAFEFENETRE
EFRERBEARATEERAN=ZBEER-
ZZEAFRNERAENBAENABRE
BEENEZUHRFEWNT:

RBERAR AEENREDEREHER
FEEREHNFBUET - UTIHFERD
ERBABEAERITLTERELERER

El

s FH-HRAEBEERBEAEEETSR
RPEORE -

s F-HAKRE-—NBEOREN TE
EIMEEENEEXRABEHAE A
TESRERATABERNEAE -

e FZABANUBEMNEEXREES
ANfE -

CREENAGREBRATEEAANME
MEREZERERAFEFEEAFRERESR
MRESEREAE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRME

36.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR .U BEREERAFETE(E)
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

36.7 Fair value measurements of financial BIEMIENAFEENEE)
instruments (Continued)

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value REAGTBHRARANREEEELENRF
in the consolidated statement of financial position on a Btz eRmEERBBEELAFERLT
recurring basis are grouped into the fair value hierarchy DEMT

as follows:

As at 31 December 2023

M2023%F12A31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—® EFIR E=R ot

RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTn AR¥TR AR®BT:R

Financial assets at FVTPL R AFEFAEBEN
cREE
— Listed equity securities and — _E 0 & AN 75 55 K &
warrants 830 — — 830

As at 31 December 2022

2022412 A31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—R FR E=H # st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR®BTT ARBTRT AR®BTRT

Financial assets at FVTPL #AF¥EFAEREHN

cRMEE

— Listed equity securities and — _E 1 % AN 55 55 K 35

warrants 984 — — 984
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 HE2023F12A318ILEFE  F—AHF =
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:nil). ] o I B A g (20224 - &) o
The carrying amounts of the Group’s other financial HRIBERE AEEAMEMEER
assets and liabilities are not materially different from their BEMNEEEERAERSREAROLTE
fair value at the end of each reporting period due to their WEERER -

short maturities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37.CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide
an adequate return to the equity holders by pricing goods and
services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure
and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of the net debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose, net
debt is defined as borrowings, discounted bills financing and
lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents. In order to
maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to the equity holders, issue new shares and
raise new debt financing.

The net debt-to-equity ratio as at the end of each reporting
period is as follows:

AR M RRME

3. EXRER

ARENEAEREEARRAEEENSE
MEETS BB AR R R IR 5T S E Kk
THBOER BARERRAARMTHD
% -

AEERBEBEERRSEERNER  THERL
ERRESHEHFE AEEANFAEES L
FEEEREEARARB UM E  FEHK
RER/BR HAZBERENEERERRE
RBCEEY REFIABZLET AKHE
AREAERFAARNRENEE  BTH
BELEEHEBRE -

RERERRNFAERSLROT

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®B T AR¥EFT T

Bank borrowings HITE R 269,461 162,000
Other borrowings H i 18 3K 57,252 53,503
Discounted bills financing B EERE 3,690 —
Lease liabilities HEaE 7,514 10,133
Less: Cash and cash equivalents BReERBReEED (78,631) (85,618)
Net debt FEB 259,286 140,018
Total equity FER 409,009 373,354
Net debt-to-equity ratio FEEREEE 63.39% 37.50%
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PROPERTIES OWNED BY THE GROUP
REBPERHIYE

Type of properties Location Main usage
MERR B FTEAR
Land No. 519, Section 2, Industrial use

Xinhua Avenue
Chengdu Strait Science
and Technology
Industry Development
Park, Wenjiang District,
Chengdu Sichuan
Province, the PRC
+ PEEIEKRETRIRE TEXAS
V8 IR = R EE B
[ 55 2= K 38 — Br5199%

Buildings No. 519, Section 2, Two factory buildings, one staff
Xinhua Avenue dormitory, one staff cafeteria
Chengdu Strait Science and two power distribution
and Technology houses
Industry Development
Park, Wenjiang District,
Chengdu Sichuan
Province, the PRC

BEY FEREEINEKETRILE REKE  —HEIES  —fH

G Isk R = R EE R A
E 31 2 K8 — B5195%

ETRERMMBEEE
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Description
iU

A parcel of land with a site

area of approximately
38,391 square metres

— 18 Hb 25 [ 75 4938,391°F

TTRE LM

Buildings built on the

parcel of land at
No.519, west section of
Xinhua Road, Cross-
Strait Science and
Technology Industry
Development Park,
Wenjiang District,
Chengdu, Sichuan,
the PRC with an
aggregate gross floor
area of approximately
34,613.24 square
metres

A 1] 4 B ER TR

IR G R E
el 85 [ 37 2 25 75 ER 519
M EEY B2
S MIEL A34,613.24F
Jok



Investment Property

Location
NE

No. 519, Section 2,

Xinhua Avenue Chengdu Strait
Science and Technology Industry
Development Park,

Wenjiang District, Chengdu
Sichuan Province, the PRC

Hr B )] & BK EB TR OT & Ik
MEMBREXFRBENENS
— BR5195%

PROPERTY HELD FOR INVESTMENT

Type of properties
MEER

Building

BEY

Main usage
FERAR

One factory building

_Fﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁ%

RFERENYR

Lease term

HEFH

Short lease

MHEE
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFMBHRE

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31ALLFE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
20194 20204 20214 20224 2023%F

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFTT AREBETI ARBTT AR®TR

Revenue I &= 167,314 182,759 213,668 217,756 237,370
Cost of sales Fiz K- DN (77,985) (83,140) (100,046) (100,939) (110,881)
Gross profit EX 89,329 99,619 113,622 116,817 126,489
Other income Ha g A 4,761 6,025 5,509 20,102 13,500
Fair value loss on financial RATETFAEED

assets at fair value through S$REEQAFEEIR

profit or loss — — — 1) (154)
Selling and distribution HERDHRAX

expenses (14,855) (17,764) (19,855) (21,595) (22,400)
Administrative and other THREEMEERE

operating expenses (31,088) (32,145) (31,587) (40,345) (43,326)
Finance costs B 7% B 7R (6,669) (7,241) (8,229) (10,536) (11,714)
Profit before income tax B BT 18 B A0 5% R 41,478 48,494 59,460 64,442 63,395
Income tax expense FTig®i = (6,401) (7,481) (8,770) (11,442) (9,712)
Profit and total FREMNRZEK &

comprehensive income B

for the year 35,077 41,013 50,690 53,000 53,683
Assets and liabilities EERERE
Total assets MEE 291,533 337,562 416,764 667,688 823,057
Total liabilities weE 168,254 173,270 201,782 294,334 414,048
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